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2. BACKGROUND 

 

 
Infrastructure Commodities (Mauritius) Ltd („ICML‟ or the „Company‟) has been incorporated in Mauritius as a 

public company holding a category one Global Business Licence („GBL1‟). 

 

The Company has been incorporated as an investment holding company to acquire minority stakes in companies 

that are focused on developing and acquiring natural resource assets targeted at use in infrastructure development. 

The natural resources used in infrastructure development include but are not limited to iron ore, copper, 

steam/thermal coal, zinc, aluminium, lead and nickel. ICML is an investment holding company and does not intend 

to invest directly in such natural resources but its strategy is to take a participation in companies which have 

exposure to these asset classes in line with its investment philosophy. 

 

The first target acquisition of the Company is 87.65% of Infrastructure Commodities Limited („ICL‟), is a Marshall 

Islands private equity company which currently has investment holdings in nine companies which in turn have 

investment exposure to companies that are involved in financing and developing commodities utilised in 

infrastructure development. The ICL investment portfolio is currently valued at USD 356 million. ICML‟s shares 

will be issued as consideration to acquire the portfolio of investments of Infrastructure Commodities Limited in 

exchange for shares in the latter. 

 

ICL is a private limited company which was originally established by private equity company ASAF Critical Metals 

Ltd, as a special purpose vehicle to focus in investing in companies that hold investments into mining companies 

which in turn explore, develop, produce commodities used in infrastructure development. ASAF Critical Metals 

Limited is a Canadian private equity company that was established in 2012 and holds investments in a variety of 

mining assets. ICL focuses on investing in companies that explore, develop and produce commodities used in 

infrastructure development and will focus on 20 identified infrastructure commodities that have total annual 

production value of over $550 billion*. 

The Company believes that it is now the right time to invest into infrastructure commodities due to the current and 

near term need for additional infrastructure investment. According to the McKinsey Global Institute report, 

„Bridging Global Infrastructure Gaps‟, dated June 2016, demand for infrastructure investment between 2016 to 2030 

is estimated at USD 49.1 trillion.  

The Company‟s strategy is to build an investment portfolio of targeted infrastructure commodities, diversified by 

size, geography and stage of development that will benefit from the forecast unprecedented infrastructure 

investment driven by underlying fundamentals of population growth, urbanisation, energy requirements, and uplift 

in economic growth and activity in emerging markets.  

As part of the Company‟s strategy, it will also look to enter into strategic partnerships with major end users of 

infrastructure commodities. 

Despite the need for additional commodities to meet demand in the near term, there has been a lack of available 

capital from traditional sources for mining companies which creates an opportunity for companies like ICML that 

are looking to make acquisitions in this sector. Coupled with the overall decline in certain commodity values over 

the last five years, this has opened up an opportunity to make investments in undervalued assets which will enable 

investors in ICML to access a market at the beginning of a demand-driven long-term upturn.  

The Company aims to list its shares on the Official List of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius („SEM‟). The Company 

will then be able to go forward with its acquisition strategy and expand its pipeline further. The Company will 

initially focus on acquiring 87.65% of ICL, amongst other targeted acquisitions. The Company will be making 

Mauritius its regional headquarters as it continues its expansion primarily within the African continent.  

The Company has signed a conditional Share Exchange Agreement on 10 April 2018 to purchase 87.65% of the 

issued shares of ICL, which is dependent on the success of the listing of the Company on the SEM. Following 

successful listing, relevant shareholders of ICL will receive listed shares of the Company on the SEM in exchange 
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for the acquisition of a majority of ICL by the Company. A valuation of the shares of ICL was carried out as at 30 

September 2017 by APC Securities Pty Ltd at USD 0.92 per share. The Directors have then decided on a price per 

share of USD 1 per share totalling a total consideration of USD 334,840,524for a stake of 87.65%. 

Upon closing of the acquisition, ICML will also be issuing listed shares to the investment manager, as consideration 

for investment management services, resulting in ICML holding 87.22% of the share capital of ICL.  

Listing on the SEM will provide ICML with acquisition currency and will provide shareholders a liquidity option on 

an internationally recognised platform.  

*Based on commodity prices as at the 30th September 2017, please see table on page 17. 
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Infrastructure Commodities (Mauritius) Ltd was incorporated and registered in Mauritius on 15
th
 November 2017 as 

a public company and holds a Category 1 Global Business License in accordance with the Mauritian Companies Act 

2001 and the Mauritian Financial Services Act 2007.  

 

 

 

3. DEFINITIONS 

 

 

 

“Board” or “the board” The board of directors of Infrastructure Commodities (Mauritius) 

Ltd; 

 

“Business day” 

 

 

“Business Plan” 

 

 

 

 

“Certificated Shares” 

 

“Code of Corporate 

Governance”  

 

 

Any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or any official public 

holiday in Mauritius; 

 

The business plan and its annexures, dated February 2018, which 

have been prepared by the Company and certified by an 

Independent Financial Advisor in compliance with the Listing 

Rules, covering at least 3 years and demonstrating the sustained 

viability of the business; 

 

Shares in respect of which physical share certificates will be issued; 

 

The National Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius (2016) 

as may be amended from time to time; 

 

 

“the company” or “ICML” or 

“ListCo” or “Infrastructure 

Commodities (Mauritius)” 

 

 

“Companies Act” 

 

 

“Constitution” 

 

“Directors” or “the board” 

 

  

“ICL” 

 

 

 

“FSC” 

 

“GBL1” 

 

 

Infrastructure Commodities (Mauritius) Ltd (registration number 

151770 C1/GBL), a public company incorporated under the laws of 

Mauritius and holding a Category One Global Business License 

issued by the FSC; 

 

The Mauritian Companies Act 2001 (Act 15 of 2001) as may be 

amended from time to time; 

 

The constitution of the Company, dated 15 February 2018; 

 

The directors of the Company as at the date of this Business Plan, 

whose details are presented in Annexure 1; 

 

Infrastructure Commodities Limited, a company established under 

the laws of the Republic of the Marshall Islands with registration 

Number  62737; 

 

The Financial Services Commission of Mauritius; 

 

A Category One Global Business License issued under the Financial 

Services Act 2007; 

 

“Group” or “Infrastructure 

Commodities Group” 

 

Infrastructure Commodities (Mauritius) Ltd and its portfolio of 

investments to be acquired post listing; 
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“LEC” 

 

“Listing Rules” 

 

“Mauritian Share Register” 

 

 

“Mauritius” 

 

The Listing Executive Committee of the SEM; 

 

The Listing Rules of the SEM governing the Official Market; 

 

The share register maintained on behalf of the Company by the 

Mauritian company administrator; 

 

The Republic of Mauritius; 

“Official List” 

 

The list of all securities admitted for quotation on the SEM Official 

Market; 

 
 

“SEM” or “Stock Exchange of 

Mauritius”  

 

 

“SEM listing date” 

 

 

“SEM Official Market” 

 

“shares” or “company shares” 

 

“Share Exchange Agreement” 
 

 

“USD” or “US$” or “$” 

The Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd established under the 

repealed Stock Exchange Act 1988 and now governed by the 

Securities Act 2005 of Mauritius; 

 

The anticipated date of listing of the shares on the SEM Official 

Market, being the 29 June 2018; 

 

the Official List of the SEM; 

 

Ordinary no par value shares in the share capital of the Company; 

 

Agreement signed between ICML and ICL dated 10 April 2018 

whereby ICML acquires 87.65% of ICL shares; 

 

United States Dollar. 
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Owns 87.65% 

 

4. CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

 

 

PRE-LISTING CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

POST LISTING CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 
 

Investment Portfolio  

 

Percentage Owned 

AGB Resource Capital Limited 

 

5.02% 

 APA Energy Streaming Limited 

 

1.83% 

 CBLSE Group Limited 

 

4.70% 

 Ecumene Mining Limited  6.00%  

Future Energy Resources Limited 4.09% 

 Indus Infrastructure Partners Limited 3.90% 

 OTH Mineral Streaming Limited 5.14% 

 Pan Southern Metals Limited 

 

4.17% 

 Quantum Investing Management Limited 11.95% 

 

      
 

Infrastructure 

Commodities 

(Mauritius) Ltd 

Infrastructure 

Commodities Limited 

ICML 

Mr Christopher  

Every 

Shareholders (with no 

shareholder owning 

more than 10%) 
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5. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

 
5.1 Board of Directors 

 

The Board of Directors (the „Board‟) of ICML consists of: 

 

 Sir Bernard Zissman – Non-Executive Chairman 

Sir Bernard Zissman is Chairman of AQC Consulting Ltd, Cerebrum Private Equity Ltd, Lambton Tailoring and former 

Chairman  of CDI Group Ltd:  Partner Private Equity Builders LLP [formerly Advantage Business Angels] and JWZ 

LLP, with long experience in the entrepreneurial SME sector.  He served as leading member of Birmingham City Council 

for thirty years, during he was elected Leader of the Conservative Group, and then Lord Mayor and Honorary Alderman. 

He led the teams which developed the world renowned Symphony Hall, and International Convention Centre and the 

foundation of Birmingham‟s successful regeneration. He was appointed by Network Rail to chair the design panel which 

selected the architect and design for New Street Station now called Grand Central. Former Chairman of a NHS Hospital 

Trust, Sir Bernard served for some years as a member of the Council of Birmingham Chamber of Commerce and as 

Regional Chairman of The Princess Royal Trust for Carers and as a member of the Appeal Council of the recently 

completed National Memorial Arboretum at Alrewas in Staffordshire. He is President of the Representative Council of 

Birmingham & West Midlands Jewry. Sir Bernard was knighted for public and political services in 1996 and made a 

Freeman of the City of London. 

 

 Mr Christopher Graeme Every – Chief Executive Director 

Mr Every is currently the Chief Executive Director of ICL. He has board level experience in both the UK and USA in 

public and private companies in a wide range of industries including service and manufacturing. His current dierctorships 

are as follows: 

Company Description 

Spearhead Innovation Ltd Involved in management and consultancy services. 

Black Bull Resources Canadian mineral resource business targeted as  the cornerstone on which to 

build a streaming business funding metals and minerals mining projects 

producing products used in the renewable energy sector. 

Coomtech Limited Coomtech Limited, a UK company, has developed a ground-breaking, clean, 

low-cost technology for drying and upgrading coal and biomass. 

Algaecytes Ltd Focused on developing and commercialising algae derived bioactive 

ingredients. 

Riverglade Associates Ltd Involved in support activities for other mining and quarrying and in remediation 

activities and other waste management services. 

ASAF Crtical Metals Limited A non operating investment holding company focusing on mining assets.  

Infrastructure Commodities 

Limited 

Private equity company focusing on investment in mining companies and 

natural resource focused companies. 

 

He also has first-hand experience in raising capital in UK and US markets for both public and private companies. 

Through established business teams, he developed consulting experience in the planning, promotion and delivery of 

change strategies. His commercial knowledge has been reinforced with background experience in sales and marketing 

including a number of start-up businesses and significant reorganisation of existing business groups. Mr Every holds a 

Teaching Certificate from the Bedford College of Education. 

 

 Mr Kuldeepsingh Yogesh Moheetah – Independent, Non-executive Director 

Yogesh is the Head of Fund of Safyr Utilis. Prior to joining Safyr Utilis, Mr. Moheetah worked as Corporate Services 

Manager for the AAMIL Group of Companies, a global financial services provider. Mr. Moheetah was responsible for 

leading the operations of AAMIL (Mauritius) Ltd and AAMIL (Seychelles) Ltd and the branch office of AAMIL in 

Mumbai India. Mr. Moheetah has 10 years of experience in the administration of offshore companies in Mauritius and 

Seychelles. Mr. Moheetah holds a Bsc (Hons) in Management and a Diploma in Business Administration, graduated from 
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the University of Mauritius. Mr. Moheetah is also a member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators 

(UK). 

 

 Mrs Shaheen Coowar – Executive Director 

Shaheen is the Head of Corporate and Private Wealth Services of Safyr Utilis. Shaheen has more than 13 years of 

experience in the Global Business sector. After having spent two years at KPMG, she joined Kross Border where she 

worked until 2008, when she joined Turnstone Corporate as Client Executive. In 2013 Shaheen was promoted to Head of 

Corporate Services at NinetyEast Financials. Shaheen is a holder of a B.A. (Hons) Law and Management Degree, is 

partly qualified ICSA and is a member of the Mauritius Institute of Directors. She has over 13 years of experience in the 

Global Business Sector in Mauritius where she has gained extensive experience in Company formation, Corporate 

secretarial, Corporate Structuring, Fund and Trust administration and Client Servicing. She has been director on the 

Board of several GBC1, GBC2 and domestic companies. 

 

 Mr David Shasha – Non-executive Director 

David Shasha is a corporate and projects lawyer, who has worked for law firms in the City of London for over 38 years. 

His corporate experience includes advising on privatisations (acting for governments, bidders and financial advisers), 

mergers and acquisitions (M&A), international joint ventures and public and private offerings.  His projects experience 

includes transactions in power, oil & gas, water, mining and infrastructure, in the UK and worldwide.  In addition to his 

experience in the energy sector, his personal practice also includes experience across the mining, financial services, and 

telecommunications sectors.  David was Head of Energy & Infrastructure Sector at Simmons & Simmons, London. He 

has particular expertise in Central and Eastern Europe, having worked on transactions in most Eastern European 

democracies. He was ranked as a leading lawyer for “Corporate/M&A (Foreign Experts)” in Chambers 2012 (and in 

previous years in both Chambers and Legal 500). 

 

5.1.1 Board responsibilities 

Although the Company intends to occasionally make use of external service providers, the Board of the Company 

remains responsible for the management of the Company as well as strategic decision-making and implementation.  

The Board will ensure that each member has the requisite advisory and management experience and expertise. The Board 

remains the ultimate decision making body of the Company.In particular, the board is responsible for decisions relatedto: 

(i) Determining the target list of entities to be consolidated into the Company given jurisdiction focus, 

 customer base, service offering and management team etc.; 

(ii) Conceptualising and implementing synergy extraction and realisation plans; 

(iii) Ensuring fully integrated service offerings; and 

(iv) Operational decisions related to ICML(staffing requirements, outsourcing  arrangements, etc.) 

Committees of the Board assist in governance of the Company by focusing on specifically mandated tasks and 

responsibilities. However, the Board is the focal point of the corporate governance system and is ultimately accountable 

and responsible for the performance and affairs of the Company.  

 

Delegating authority to Board committees does not in any way mitigate or dissipate the discharge by the Board and its 

directors of their duties and responsibilities. Board committees constitute a common mechanism to assist the Board and 

its directors in giving detailed attention to specific areas of their duties and responsibilities in a more comprehensive 

evaluation of specified issues. Being smaller, committees can go into greater detail and deal with complex issues where 

the full Board might not have sufficient time. 

 

Board committees should be subject to regular evaluation by the Board to ascertain their performance and effectiveness. 

Disclosure of material information on the Board committees including their composition, terms of reference, number of 

meetings held, etc., should be dealt with in the annual report and the Chairperson of such committees should be in 

attendance at the Company‟s shareholder meetings. 

5.2 Investment committee 
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An Investment Committee will comprise of directors and other members as may be appointed by the board and in 

alignment with the Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius. The Investment Committee‟s primary role will be to 

ensure that the investment strategy is followed and implemented, to establish criteria and propose selected investments 

the Company may decide to acquire, determine the funding mechanism for these investments, and once acquired monitor 

the performance of the underlying investments. The initial members of the Investment Committee will be comprised of 

Sir Bernard Zissman as chairperson and Mr. Christopher Every and Mr. Yogesh Moheetah. Further members will be 

appointed by the Board in due course. 

The primary purpose of the Investment Committee will be to: 

 Assist the Board and management in respect of the management of the invested assets of the Company; 

 Advise upon and monitor the application of investment policies and guidelines for the Infrastructure 

Commodities Group; 

 Select and retain external investment managers on behalf of the Company; and 

 Monitor the performance of external investment managers. 

 

5.3 Audit and risk committee 

The members of the Audit and Risk Committee are: 

 Sir Bernard Zissman; 

 Mrs Shaheen Coowar; and 

 Mr Yogesh Moheetah. 

The board has established an Audit and Risk Committee of which one independent non-executive director shall be the 

chairperson. 

All of the members of the committee are financially literate (and the board will ensure that any future appointees are 

financially literate). The committee‟s primary objective will be to provide the board with additional assurance regarding 

the efficacy and reliability of the financial information used by the directors, to assist them in the discharge of their 

duties. The committee will be required to provide satisfaction to the board that adequate and appropriate financial and 

operating controls are in place; that significant business, financial and other risks have been identified and are being 

suitably managed; and that satisfactory standards of governance, reporting and compliance are in operation. The Audit 

and Risk Committee will be responsible for overseeing the directors‟ report. In this regard the Audit and Risk Committee 

will have regard to all factors and risks that may impact on the integrity of the directors‟ report, and the board will review 

and comment on the financial statements and the disclosure of sustainability issues included in the directors‟ report. In 

addition, the Audit and Risk Committee will have general oversight over and report on the sustainability issues, will 

review the directors‟ report to ensure that the information contained therein is reliable and does not contradict the 

financial aspects of the report and will oversee the provision of assurance over sustainability issues. The Audit and Risk 

Committee will review the content of the Company‟s interim results and will engage with external auditors to provide 

assurance on the summarised financial information. 

Within this context, the board is responsible for the Company‟s systems of internal, financial and operational control. The 

executive directors will be charged with the responsibility of determining the adequacy, extent and operation of these 

systems. Comprehensive reviews and testing of the effectiveness of the internal control systems in operation will be 

performed by the Audit and Risk Committee. These systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, 

assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements, to safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of 

its assets and to identify and minimise significant fraud, potential liability, loss and material misstatement while 

complying with applicable laws and regulations. An Audit and Risk Committee charter is to be prepared and reported to 

the board. 

The Audit and Risk Committee will meet at least three times a year. Executives and managers responsible for finance and 

the external auditors will be in attendance. The Audit and Risk Committee will review the finance function of the 

Company on an annual basis. 

The Audit and Risk Committee may authorise engaging for non-audit services with the appointed external auditors or any 

other practising firm of auditors, after consideration of the following: 
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 the essence of the work being performed may not be of a nature that any reasonable and informed observer would 

construe as being detrimental to good corporate governance or in conflict with that normally undertaken by the 

accountancy profession; 

 the nature of the work being performed will not affect the independence of the appointed external auditors in 

undertaking the normal audit assignments; 

 the work being done may not conflict with any requirement of generally accepted accounting practice or principles 

of good corporate governance; 

 the operational structure, internal standards and processes being adopted by the audit firm in order to ensure that 

audit independence is maintained in the event that such audit firm is engaged to perform accounting or other non-

audit services to its client base. Specifically: 

 the Company may not appoint a firm of auditors to improve systems or processes where such firm of auditors 

will later be required to express a view as to the functionality or effectiveness of such systems or processes; 

 the Company may not appoint a firm of auditors to provide services where such firm of auditors will later be 

required to express a view on the fair representation of information resulting from provision of these services 

to the Company; and 

 the total fee being earned by an audit firm for non-audit services in any financial year of the Company, 

expressed as a percentage of the total fee for audit services, may not exceed 35% without the approval of the 

board;  

 a firm of auditors will not be engaged to perform any management functions (e.g. acting as curator) without the 

express prior approval of the board. A firm of auditors may be engaged to perform operational functions, including 

that of bookkeeping, when such firm of auditors are not the appointed external auditors of the Company and work is 

being performed under management supervision. 

Information relating to the use of non-audit services from the appointed external auditors of the Company shall be 

disclosed in the notes to the annual financial statements. Separate disclosure of the amounts paid to the appointed external 

auditors for non-audit services as opposed to audit services, shall be made in the annual financial statements. 

The Audit Committee must consider on an annual basis and satisfy itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and 

experience of the financial director and the Company must confirm this by reporting to shareholders in its annual report 

that the Audit Committee has executed this responsibility. 

With regard to the appointment of directors, the Audit and Risk Committee will undertake background and reference 

checks before the appointment of directors. The board shall make full disclosures regarding individual directors to enable 

shareholders to make their own assessment of the directors. 

The Audit and Risk Committee will report at the Company‟s annual general meeting how it has discharged its duties 

during the financial year to be reported on. 

5.4 Risk management and internal controls 

Risk and internal controls management will be under the responsibility of the Audit and Risk Committee. 

The Audit and Risk Committee will participate in management‟s process of formulating and implementing the risk 

management plan and will report on the plan adopted by management to the board. 

The objective of risk management is to identify, assess, manage and monitor the risks to which the business is exposed, 

including, but not limited to, information technology risk. The board will be responsible for ensuring the adoption of 

appropriate risk management policies by management. The board will also ensure that there are processes in place 

between itself and management enabling complete, timely, relevant, accurate and accessible risk disclosure to 

shareholders. 

To enable the Audit and Risk Committee to meet its responsibilities, the Audit and Risk Committee will set standards and 

management will implement systems of internal control and an effective risk-based internal audit, comprising policies, 

procedures, systems and information to assist in: 

 safeguarding assets and reducing the risk of loss, error, fraud and other irregularities; 

 ensuring the accuracy and completeness of accounting records and reporting; 
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 preparing timely, reliable financial statements and information in compliance with relevant legislation and generally 

accepted accounting policies and practices; and 

 increasing the probability of anticipating unpredictable risk. 

The board will, in its directors‟ report, comment on the effectiveness of the system and process of risk management. 

The board will ensure that management considers and implements the appropriate risk responses and IT strategy. 

5.5 Corporate governance committee 

The members of the Corporate Governance Committee are: 

 Sir Bernard Zissman; 

 Mr David Shasha; and 

 Mrs Shaheen Coowar. 

The board has established a Corporate Governance Committee of which one independent non-executive director shall be 

the chairperson. 

The role of the Corporate Governance Committee will be to work on behalf of the board and be responsible for 

recommendations with regard to: 

a) ensuring that the reporting requirements on corporate governance, whether in the annual report or on an ongoing 

basis are in accordance with the Report of Corporate Governance for Mauritius; 

b) determining, developing and agreeing the Company‟s general policy or executive and senior management 

remuneration; 

c) determining specific remuneration packages for executive directors of the Company, including but not limited to 

basic salary, benefits in kind, annual bonuses, performance incentives, share incentives, pensions and other 

benefits; 

d) determining any criteria necessary to measure the performance of executive directors in discharging their 

functions and responsibilities; and 

e) determining the level of non-executive and independent non-executive fees to be recommended to the 

shareholders at the meeting of shareholders. 

The Committee, in carrying out its tasks, may obtain such outside or other independent professional advice as it considers 

necessary, at the Company‟s expense. 

No member of the Corporate Governance Committee can be involved or vote on committee decisions in regard to his/her 

own remuneration. 

 

5.6 Other service providers 

Most administrative and secretarial functions are carried out by Safyr Utilis in Mauritius. Safyr Capital Partners Ltd will 

be appointed as authorised SEM Representative.  

The Company may use the services of global brokers for the trading and custody of listed securities and other 

instruments. 

The board leverages off existing operations within SAFYR Group and associated companies for operations management, 

finance and accounting. 
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6. OVERVIEW OF THE MINING AND INFRASTRUCTURE INDUSTRY 

 

The mining industry and the infrastructure industry are intertwined as infrastructure projects cannot be built without 

access to resources.  

 

Market opportunity in infrastructure 

 

 According to The McKinsey Global Institute report dated June 2016, infrastructure investment demand 

between 2016 to 2030 is estimated at USD 49.1 trillion. 

 Infrastructure demand by infrastructure class (2016 – 30): Transport 38%, Power 30%, Telecom 17% and 

Water 15%. 

 According to the McKinsey report dated June 2016, total global infrastructure requirements will account for 

3.8% of global GDP over the next 10-15 years. 

 Existing projects such as China‟s „one belt, one road‟ initiative and recently announced government policies 

in the US and the EU will further increase demand. 

Infrastructure trends 

 

 Rapid urbanisation in emerging economies and expanding urbanisation in mature economies require 

governments to build new and improve existing infrastructure. 

 Infrastructure typically involves high-cost long term investments that are essential to a country‟s or business‟ 

economic development and prosperity. 

 Global infrastructure assets provide essential services that allow the global economy to function. 

Infrastructure investments are attractive to investors as there a r e  significant demand, limited 

supply and stable long term income. The desire to invest in infrastructure as an asset class has never 

been stronger, with huge amounts of capital available from pension, insurance and sovereign wealth funds. 

 Technology developments affect the development of infrastructure and can be used to reduce cost and 

increase efficiency of infrastructure  

 

Historic Major Infrastructure Systems and Technology Developments  

    Mass-produced cars  
 

  Steam engines 
Cheap steel 

Cheap oil and fuels Computers, 
software 

 

Machinery 
 and power 

Petrochemicals 
 

 
Iron and coal Civil 

Cheap 
microelectronics 

 

  

Internal combustion 
 

Mechanised cotton Mining engineering Telecommunications 
 

industry  
Rolling stock Electrical 

engine   
 

  

Radio and television The information revolution 
 

Wrought iron  Production equipment 
 

Major technological developments 
 

1750 1800 1850 1900 1950 2000 
 

New or redefined infrastructure systems 
 

Canals and waterways Railways Ports -  Road and Highway Digital telecoms 
 

  Steam Ships networks  
 

     
 

Turnpike roads Telegraphs   Internet/electronic mail 
 

  Telephone Universal electricity  
 

Water power City gas   High Speed physical 
 

  Electrical Analog telecoms transport links (air, land, 
 

 Ports – sailing networks  water) 
 

 Ships    
 

 

Mined minerals are a $1.57 trillion per annum market 

 

Mined mineral products amount to $1.57 trillion of production per annum and there is currently a total of $98 trillion 
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of mapped mineral reserves. 
 

 
 

 

Mined mineral wealth and production by region 

 

Asia and the Pacific currently account for 36% of global GDP, 35% of global mineral wealth and 60% of global 

mineral production.  

 

 

Market value of Top 20 Mining companies by commodity 

 

 



Infrastructure Commodities (Mauritius) Ltd Business Plan/2018 Page 16 
 

 

 

7. CURRENT BUSINESS AND ACQUISITION OF MAJORITY EQUITY SHARES OF  ICL 

 

 
ICML‟s subsidiary, ICL, will make investments into Natural Resources companies focused on developing 

commodities used in infrastructure projects. ICL is managed by SGI Capital Limited who are responsible for the 

administration and management of ICL. ICL applies its knowledge to leverage insights and strategic 

relationships that result in value creation. ICL makes an investment with a long-term perspective, which enables 

it to invest in businesses that will return significant value for investors.  
 

Utilising a top down/bottom up investment model, ICL combines a best in class private equity perspective with 

a collaborative investment approach that ensures that portfolio companies and all shareholders benefit from 

ICL‟s involvement. 

 

ICML has a long-term investment horizon to continue to invest into infrastructure related mining assets, where 

the directors believe there is fundamental long term value that will provide attractive returns for shareholders 

over the medium and long term. 

 
 

Top Down – Bottom Up Investment Model 
 

Top-down research and bottom-up research are vastly different ways to look at investments. There are great 

advantages to both methodologies, but too much reliance on only one hinders investment portfolios from 

reaching their maximum potential. The manager of ICL  believes a combined approach provides a sound basis 

upon which to make informed and calculated investment decisions. 
 
 

Top-Down Research 
 

Top-down research looks at macroeconomic variables such as the state of the overall economy which  plays a 

big role in the investment decision. Certain sectors are always performing better than others, and top-down 

research will look for opportunities in these sectors first. 

 

With ICL‟s focus on resources, the manager  looks at the overall demand for resources, of which a large part 

comes from infrastructure spending on a global basis.  

 

Bottom-Up Research 

 

Bottom-up research, by contrast, is all about the numbers. At this level of research, the state of the economy is 

not considered, the idea being that a well-run company with sound underlying fundamentals will succeed in 

most market environments.  

 

When looking at an investment scenario from a Bottom Up perspective the following are normally taken into 

account: 

 

 Potential Market Size: While difficult to calculate precisely, gauging the potential market for a 

commodity gives an idea of how much earnings potential the Company can achieve when combined 

with projected and historic production numbers, against the underlying resource asset base.  

 Sales and Earnings Figures: Future earnings potential is calculated based upon long term commodity 

price forecasts. 

 

An important factor of bottom-up research is understanding the specific economic dynamics of the industry 

including ranges of valuation, profitability and earnings growth.  
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Strategy of ICML 

 

The Company‟s investment strategy centres on infrastructure demand. One of the largest contributors to 

infrastructure demand in the next 20 years will be China‟s One Belt, One Road policy (OBOR), which will 

create a significant need for certain commodity types to whichthe Company will have investment exposure . The 

Company will look to invest in mining companies that are specifically focused on commodities which can 

service the proposed OBOR transport network that will run from China through to Europe. 

 

OBOR will see the development of six major economic corridors. Building, transport and information 

infrastructure will beget the development of energy and industrial clusters along these economic corridors. 

 

Many countries along the OBOR corridor need to improve their infrastructure stock. Pressures on the existing 

stock continue to mount as populations rise, urbanisation continues, and ongoing industrialisation and economic 

development require supporting infrastructure. These factors, combined with the need to assist future economic 

growth with high quality infrastructure, necessitate ongoing investment. 

 

China is not the only investor in central Asian connectivity. Multilateral financial institutions, such as the Asian 

Development Bank, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development and the World Bank have long 

been investing in the region‟s infrastructure. Other countries, including Turkey, the US, and the EU, have also 

made improving Eurasian connectivity a part of their foreign policy. 

  

On 10
th

 April 2018, the Company executed a Share Exchange Agreement with a majority of the shareholders of 

ICL, to acquire 87.65% of its share capital for a consideration of USD 334,840,524 (the „Purchase Price‟). This 

acquisition is dependent upon the Company being successfully listed on the Official Market of the Stock 

Exchange of Mauritius as the Purchase Price will be paid fully in listed shares to the existing shareholders of 

ICL who have accepted the acquisition proposition. 

 

On the 10
th

 April 2018 the Share Exchange Agreement was approved by the shareholders of both the Company 

and ICL for ICML to acquire 87.65% of the issued share capital in ICL. Post-acquisition, ICML will also be 

issuing listed shares to the investment manager, as consideration for investment management services, resulting 

in ICML effectively holding 87.22% of the share capital.    

 

Annual production of the Top 20 Infrastructure Commodities  

 

The Company will look to invest into companies that have exposure to any of the major infrastructure 

commodities that are listed in the table below. 

 

Name 
Annual World 
Mine Production 
(2016 e) 

Price 
(30.09.2017/           

average 2016 e) 

Annual Prod. ($ 
value 30.09.17) 

Uses in Infrastructure 

Iron (Ore) 2,230,000,000 57.86 129,027,800,000 
The world's most commonly used metal, being 
the key ingredient in steelmaking  with extensive 
use in building/construction 

Copper 19,400,000 6,451.00 125,149,400,000 
Extensively used in construction, electrical wire, 
roofing, piping, refrigeration, air-conditioning, 
etc. 

Aluminium 57,600,000 2,127.50 122,544,000,000 
Transportation, construction (windows, doors, 
building wire, roofing, etc.), electrical 
transmission lines for power distribution, etc. 

Zinc 11,900,000 3,126.00 37,199,400,000 
The main use for zinc is galvanizing steel as a 
protection against corrosion. Also rolled zinc 
applications in gutters, roofing, pipes, etc. 

Manganese 16,000,000 1,945.00 31,120,000,000 
Essential to iron/steel production and the 
construction industry 
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Nickel 2,250,000 10,260.00 23,085,000,000 
Used in stainless steel production/steel alloys for 
use in building construction 

Silicon  7,200,000 2,006.20 14,444,640,000 
Aluminium and aluminium alloys and the semi-
conductor (computer chips) and solar energy 
industries (photovoltaic cells) 

Limestone 
604,600,000 
tonnes (estimated 
global 2015) 

$20/tonne 12,092,000,000 
Used in construction/as an aggregate for many 
roads as well as in asphalt concrete 

Lead 4,820,000 2,470.00 11,905,400,000 
General construction use. Used for some alloys 
and in the construction of nuclear reactors. 
Batteries in the telecommunications sector 

Sand 
179,000,000 
tonnes (sand & 
gravel, industrial) 

$46.62/tonne 8,344,980,000 
Building construction industry - concrete 
aggregates, road base and coverings, construction 
fill, concrete products, etc. 

Bauxite 
262,000,000 
tonnes 

$29/tonne 7,598,000,000 Aluminium ore - source of aluminium.  See above 

Soda ash 

39,500,000 
tonnes (synth). 
14,100,000 
(natural) 

$141/short ton 7,557,600,000 
Used in glass making and subsequently used in 
the construction industry. Water treatment 

Cobalt 123,000 58,500.00 7,195,500,000 
Cobalt-based superalloys used in turbine blades 
for gas turbines 

Chromium 
(Chromite ore) 

30,400,000 220.00 6,688,000,000 
Alloying material for steel/used in the production 
of stainless steel 

Tin 280,000 20,700.00 5,796,000,000 
Used for coating lead, zinc and steel (to prevent 
corrosion) and subsequently used in the building 
construction sector  

Molybdenum 227,000 15,500.00 3,518,500,000 
Used in iron and steel production as used in the 
construction/building sector 

Asbestos 2,000,000 tonnes $1,610/tonne 3,220,000,000 
Buildings (concrete, bricks, pipes, ceilings, 
insulation, etc).  Note: Use has declined in recent 
years due to health impact  

Tungsten 86,400 32,242.57 2,785,758,048 
Used to make various alloys and specialty steels 
used in the building construction sector 

Gypsum 
263,000,000 
tonnes 

$9/tonne 
(average crude) 

2,367,000,000 
Used in cement production/as a finish for walls 
and ceilings/in building construction 

Magnesium 1,010,000 2,300.00 2,323,000,000 
The third most commonly used structural metal 
(following iron and aluminium) as used in the 
construction/electronics industry  
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Overview of the Leading 20 Infrastructure Commodities  
 

Iron (Ore) 

 

The primary use of iron ore is in the production of iron. Most of the iron produced is then used to make steel. 

Steel is used to make automobiles, locomotives, and ships, beams used in buildings, furniture, paper clips, and 

tools, reinforcing rods for concrete, bicycles, and thousands of other items. It is the most-used metal by both 

tonnage and purpose. Earth's most important iron ore deposits are found in sedimentary rocks. They formed 

from chemical reactions that combined iron and oxygen in marine and fresh waters. The two most important 

minerals in these deposits are iron oxides: hematite and magnetite. These iron ores have been mined to produce 

almost every iron and steel object that we use today - from paper clips to automobiles to the steel beams in 

skyscrapers. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 2,230,000,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $129.02bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 154,500mt 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $8,939bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: China, Australia, Brazil, India, Russia 

 

Copper 

 

Copper is an excellent conductor of electricity. Most copper mined today is used to conduct electricity - mostly 

as wiring. It is also an excellent conductor of heat and is used in cooking utensils, heat sinks, and heat 

exchangers. Large amounts are also used to make alloys such as brass (copper and zinc) and bronze (copper, tin, 

and zinc). Copper is also alloyed with precious metals such as gold and silver. Native copper is an element and a 

mineral. It is found in the oxidized zones of copper deposits; in hydrothermal veins; in the cavities of basalt that 

have been in contact with hydrothermal solutions; and as pore fillings and replacements in conglomerates that 

have been in contact with hydrothermal solutions. It is rarely found in large quantities; thus it is seldom the 

primary target of a mining operation. Most copper produced is extracted from sulphide deposits. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 19,400,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $125.14bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 570,000,000t 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $3,677bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: Chile, China, Peru, United States, Democratic Republic of the Congo 

 

Aluminium 

 

Aluminium is a very good conductor of electricity and heat. It is light and strong. It can be hammered into 

sheets (malleable) or pulled out into wires (ductile). It is a highly reactive metal, although it is corrosion 

resistant. Aluminium prevents corrosion by forming a small, thin layer of aluminium oxide on its surface. This 

layer protects the metal by preventing oxygen from reaching it. Corrosion cannot occur without oxygen. 

Because of this thin layer, the reactivity of aluminium is not seen. Pure aluminium is made from bauxite, a kind 

of rock that has aluminium oxide and many impurities. The bauxite is crushed and reacted with sodium 

hydroxide. The aluminium oxide dissolves. Then the aluminium oxide is dissolved in liquid cryolite, a rare 

mineral. Cryolite is normally produced artificially though. The aluminium oxide is electrolyzed to make 

aluminium and oxygen. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 57,600,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $122.54bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: N/A 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: N/A 

Top 5 countries by Production: N/A 

 

Zinc 

 

A base metal, zinc is primarily used to galvanize steel, a process to protect the metal against unwanted 

corrosion. But alloys of zinc, including brass, are vital to a wide range of applications, from corrosion resistant 

marine components to musical instruments. Zinc is primarily extracted from ore containing zinc sulphide, zinc 

blende or sphalerite. The countries mining and producing the most refined zinc, in descending order, are China, 

Peru, Australia, the United States and Canada. According to the U.S. Geological Survey, about 13.4 million 
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metric tons of zinc in concentrate was mined in 2014, with China accounting for about 36 percent of the total. 

According to the International Lead and Zinc Study Group, about 13 million metric tons of zinc were consumed 

industrially in 2013 in galvanizing, brass and bronze alloys, zinc alloys, chemical production and die casting. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 11,900,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $37.19bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 190,800,000t 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $596.44bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: China, Australia, Peru, United States, India 

 

Manganese 

 

Manganese is the fifth most abundant metal in the Earth‟s crust. Its minerals are widely distributed, with 

pyrolusite (manganese dioxide) and rhodochrosite (manganese carbonate) being the most common. The main 

mining areas for manganese are in China, Africa, Australia and Gabon. The metal is obtained by reducing the 

oxide with sodium, magnesium or aluminium, or by the electrolysis of manganese sulphate. Manganese is too 

brittle to be of much use as a pure metal. It is mainly used in alloys, such as steel. Steel contains about 1% 

manganese, to increase the strength and also improve workability and resistance to wear. Manganese steel 

contains about 13% manganese. This is extremely strong and is used for railway tracks, safes, rifle barrels and 

prison bars. Drinks cans are made of an alloy of aluminium with 1.5% manganese, to improve resistance to 

corrosion. With aluminium, antimony and copper it forms highly magnetic alloys. Manganese oxide is used as a 

catalyst, a rubber additive and to decolourise glass that is coloured green by iron impurities. Manganese sulphate 

is used to make a fungicide. Manganese(II) oxide is a powerful oxidising agent and is used in quantitative 

analysis. It is also used to make fertilisers and ceramics. 

 

BGS 2015 Production: 16,000,000t 

BGS 2015 Production Value: $31.12bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 686,000,000t 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $1,334bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: South Africa, China, Australia, Gabon, Brazil 

 

Nickel 

 

Nickel resists corrosion and is used to plate other metals to protect them. It is, however, mainly used in making 

alloys such as stainless steel. Nichrome is an alloy of nickel and chromium with small amounts of silicon, 

manganese and iron. It resists corrosion, even when red hot, so is used in toasters and electric ovens. A copper-

nickel alloy is commonly used in desalination plants, which convert seawater into fresh water. Nickel steel is 

used for armour plating. Other alloys of nickel are used in boat propeller shafts and turbine blades. Nickel is 

used in batteries, including rechargeable nickel-cadmium batteries and nickel-metal hydride batteries used in 

hybrid vehicles. Nickel has a long history of being used in coins. The US five-cent piece (known as a „nickel‟) is 

25% nickel and 75% copper. Finely divided nickel is used as a catalyst for hydrogenating vegetable oils. Adding 

nickel to glass gives it a green colour. The minerals from which most nickel is extracted are iron/nickel 

sulphides such as pentlandite. It is also found in other minerals, including garnierite. A substantial amount of the 

nickel on Earth arrived with meteorites. One of these landed in the region near Ontario, Canada, hundreds of 

millions of years ago. This region is now responsible for about 15% of the world‟s production. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 2,250,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $23.08bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 71,860,000t 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $737.28bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: Philippines, Russia, Canada, Australia, New Caledonia 

 

Silicon  

 

Silicon is one of the most useful elements to mankind. Most is used to make alloys including aluminium-silicon 

and ferro-silicon (iron-silicon). These are used to make dynamo and transformer plates, engine blocks, cylinder 

heads and machine tools and to deoxidise steel. Silicon is also used to make silicones. These are silicon-oxygen 

polymers with methyl groups attached. Silicone oil is a lubricant and is added to some cosmetics and hair 

conditioners. Silicone rubber is used as a waterproof sealant in bathrooms and around windows, pipes and roofs. 

The element silicon is used extensively as a semiconductor in solid-state devices in the computer and 

microelectronics industries. For this, hyperpure silicon is needed. The silicon is selectively doped with tiny 
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amounts of boron, gallium, phosphorus or arsenic to control its electrical properties. Granite and most other 

rocks are complex silicates, and these are used for civil engineering projects. Sand (silicon dioxide or silica) and 

clay (aluminium silicate) are used to make concrete and cement. Sand is also the principal ingredient of glass, 

which has thousands of uses. Silicon, as silicate, is present in pottery, enamels and high-temperature ceramics. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 7,200,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $14.44bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: N/A 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: N/A 

Top 5 countries by Production: N/A 

 

Limestone 

 

Limestone is a sedimentary rock composed primarily of calcium carbonate (CaCO3) in the form of the mineral 

calcite. It most commonly forms in clear, warm, shallow marine waters. It is usually an organic sedimentary 

rock that forms from the accumulation of shell, coral, and algal debris. It can also be a chemical sedimentary 

rock formed by the precipitation of calcium carbonate from lake or ocean water. Limestone is a rock with an 

enormous diversity of uses. It could be the one rock that is used in more ways than any other. Most limestone is 

made into crushed stone and used as a construction material. It is used as a crushed stone for road base and 

railroad ballast. It is used as an aggregate in concrete. It is fired in a kiln with crushed shale to make cement. 

Some varieties of limestone perform well in these uses because they are strong, dense rocks with few pore 

spaces. These properties enable them to stand up well to abrasion and freeze-thaw. Although limestone does not 

perform as well in these uses as some of the harder silicate rocks, it is much easier to mine and does not exert 

the same level of wear on mining equipment, crushers, screens, and the beds of the vehicles that transport it. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 604,600,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: N/A$12.09bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: N/A 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: N/A 

Top 5 countries by Production: N/A 

 

Lead 

 

This easily worked, and corrosion-resistant metal has been used for pipes, pewter and paint since Roman times. 

It has also been used in lead glazes for pottery and, in this century, insecticides, hair dyes and as an anti-

knocking additive for petrol. All these uses have now been banned, replaced or discouraged as lead is known to 

be detrimental to health, particularly that of children. Lead is still widely used for car batteries, pigments, 

ammunition, cable sheathing, weights for lifting, weight belts for diving, lead crystal glass, radiation protection 

and in some solders. It is often used to store corrosive liquids. It is also sometimes used in architecture, for 

roofing and in stained glass windows. Lead is chiefly obtained from the mineral galena by a roasting process. At 

least 40% of lead in the UK is recycled from secondary sources such as scrap batteries and pipes. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 4,820,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $11.90bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 86,700,000t 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $214.15bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: China, Australia, United States, Peru, Mexico 

 

Sand 

 

Sand is a naturally occurring granular material composed of finely divided rock and mineral particles. It is 

defined by size, being finer than gravel and coarser than silt. Sand can also refer to a textural class of soil or soil 

type; i.e., a soil containing more than 85 percent sand-sized particles by mass. Sand is a major ingredient of 

mortar, plaster, concrete, and asphalt paving. Bricks made of clay mixed with sand are harder and will bear a 

greater weight than bricks composed of clay only. Moulds used in foundries for casting metal are made of sand 

with a clay binder. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 179,000,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $8.34bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: N/A 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: N/A 
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Top 5 countries by Production: N/A 

Bauxite 

 

Bauxite is typically a soft, white to grey to reddish brown material with a pisolitic structure, earthy lustre and a 

low specific gravity (SG: 2.0-2.5). These properties are useful for identifying bauxite; however, they have 

nothing to do with bauxite's value or usefulness. This is because bauxite is almost always processed into another 

material with physical properties that are distinctly different from bauxite. Bauxite is the principal ore of 

aluminium. The first step in producing aluminium is to crush the bauxite and purify it using the Bayer Process. 

In the Bayer Process, the bauxite is washed in a hot solution of sodium hydroxide, which leaches aluminium 

from the bauxite. Sintered bauxite is often used as a sand-blasting abrasive. It is produced by crushing bauxite to 

a powder and then fusing it into spherical beads at a very high temperature. Sintered bauxite is also used as an 

oil field proppant. In drilling for oil and natural gas, the reservoir rock is often fractured by pumping fluids into 

the well under very high pressures. The pressure builds up to very high levels that cause the reservoir rock to 

fracture. When fracturing occurs, water and suspended particles known as "proppants" rush into the fractures 

and push them open. When the pumps are turned off, the fractures close, trapping the proppant particles in the 

reservoir. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 292,000,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $7.59bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 25,130t 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $728.77bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: Australia, China, Brazil, India, Malaysia 

 

Soda ash 

 

Soda ash, also known as sodium carbonate, is an alkali chemical refined from the mineral trona or naturally 

occurring sodium carbonate-bearing brines (both referred to as natural soda ash), the mineral nahcolite (referred 

to as natural sodium bicarbonate, from which soda ash can be produced), or manufactured from one of several 

chemical processes (referred to as synthetic soda ash). Soda ash has several diversified uses. Glass 

manufacturing is the largest application for soda ash whether it is in the production of containers, fiberglass 

insulation, or flat glass for the housing, commercial building, and automotive industries. Soda ash also is used to 

clean the air and soften water. As environmental concerns grow, demand increases for soda ash used in the 

removal of sulphur dioxide and hydrochloric acid from stack gases. Chemical producers use soda ash as an 

intermediate to manufacture products that sweeten soft drinks (corn sweeteners), relieve physical discomfort 

(sodium bicarbonate) and improve foods and toiletries (phosphates). Household detergents and paper products 

are a few other common examples of readily identifiable products using soda ash. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 39,500,000t (synth) 14,100,000t (natural) 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $7.55bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: N/A 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: N/A 

Top 5 countries by Production: N/A 

 

Cobalt 

 

Cobalt (Co) is a bluish-grey, shiny, brittle metallic element. It has magnetic properties similar to iron.  There are 

no significant minerals of cobalt. It is rare and obtained mostly through refining of nickel ore. It is used in super 

alloys for jet engines, chemicals magnets, and cemented carbides for cutting tools. Cobalt has been used by 

civilizations for centuries to create deep blue glass, ceramics, pottery and tiles. In a similar way, it is being used 

to make paint pigments. In addition to these traditional uses, cobalt is used in a number of industrial 

applications. When cobalt is alloyed with other metals, very strong magnets are created. Superalloys containing 

cobalt are used in the production of jet engines and gas turbine engines for energy generation. These superalloys 

account for nearly half of the cobalt used each year. Some cobalt is used to make cutting and wear-resistant 

materials. A manmade isotope of cobalt, cobalt-60, produces gamma rays. This is used for sterilization of 

medical supplies and foods, for industrial testing, and to fight cancer. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 123,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $7.19bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 6,304,000t 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $368.78bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: Democratic Republic of the Congo, New Caledonia, China, Canada, Australia 
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Chromium (Chromite ore) 

 

Chromium is a metal used to induce hardness, toughness, and chemical resistance in steel. The alloy produced is 

known as "stainless steel." When alloyed with iron and nickel, it produces an alloy known as "nichrome" which 

is resistant to high temperatures and used to make heating units, ovens, and other appliances. Thin coatings of 

chromium alloys are used as plating on auto parts, appliances, and other products. These are given the name 

"chrome plated." It is also used to make superalloys that can perform well in the hot, corrosive, and high-stress 

environment of jet engines. Chromite can be challenging to identify. Several properties must be considered to 

differentiate it from other metallic ores. Hand specimen identification of chromite requires a consideration of: 

colour, specific gravity, lustre, and a characteristic brown streak. The most important clue to identifying 

chromite is its association with ultrabasic igneous rocks and metamorphic rocks such as serpentinite. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 30,400,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $6.68bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 496,620,000t 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $109.26bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: South Africa, Turkey, Kazakhstan, India, Finland 

 

Tin 

 

Tin has many uses. It takes a high polish and is used to coat other metals to prevent corrosion, such as in tin 

cans, which are made of tin-coated steel. Alloys of tin are important, such as soft solder, pewter, bronze and 

phosphor bronze. A niobium-tin alloy is used for superconducting magnets. Most window glass is made by 

floating molten glass on molten tin to produce a flat surface. Tin salts sprayed onto glass are used to produce 

electrically conductive coatings. The most important tin salt used is tin chloride, which is used as a reducing 

agent and as a mordant for dyeing calico and silk. Tin oxide is used for ceramics and gas sensors. Zinc stannate 

is a fire-retardant used in plastics. Some tin compounds have been used as anti-fouling paint for ships and boats, 

to prevent barnacles. However, even at low levels these compounds are deadly to marine life, especially oysters. 

Its use has now been banned in most countries. Tin is found principally in the ore cassiterite (tin(IV) oxide). It is 

mainly found in the „tin belt‟ stretching through China, Thailand and Indonesia. It is also mined in Peru, Bolivia 

and Brazil. It is obtained commercially by reducing the ore with coal in a furnace. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 280,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $5.79bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 4,471,000t 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $92.55bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: China, Indonesia, Myanmar, Brazil, Bolivia 

 

Molybdenum 

 

Molybdenum has a very high melting point, so it is produced and sold as a grey powder. Many molybdenum 

items are formed by compressing the powder at a very high pressure. Most molybdenum is used to make alloys. 

It is used in steel alloys to increase strength, hardness, electrical conductivity and resistance to corrosion and 

wear. These „moly steel‟ alloys are used in parts of engines. Other alloys are used in heating elements, drills and 

saw blades. Molybdenum disulphide is used as a lubricant additive. Other uses for molybdenum include 

catalysts for the petroleum industry, inks for circuit boards, pigments and electrodes. The main molybdenum ore 

is molybdenite (molybdenum disulphide). It is processed by roasting to form molybdenum oxide, and then 

reducing to the metal. The main mining areas are in the USA, China, Chile and Peru. Some molybdenum is 

obtained as a by-product of tungsten and copper production. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 227,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $3.5bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 14,923,000t 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $231.31bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: China, Unites States, Chile, Peru, Mexico 

 

Asbestos 
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Asbestos is a commercial term that includes six regulated asbestiform silicate (silicon + oxygen) minerals. 

Because this group of silicate minerals can be readily separated into thin, strong fibres that are flexible, heat 

resistant, and chemically inert, asbestos minerals were once used in a wide variety of products. However, due to 

adverse health effects, the use of asbestos in the U.S. has been significantly decreased. In 2013, for example, the 

total amount used was only 950 tons, all of which was chrysotile, and was mined in Brazil. Many other 

countries still mine and use asbestos in insulation products due to less stringent health and safety regulations. 

Asbestos is used to make heat resistant products. Long asbestos fibres are preferred, and short fibres are worth 

only a fraction of the price. The former uses of asbestos in building construction (fireproof ceiling panels in 

schools, for example) have largely disappeared, although asbestos is still used in making asbestos-cement 

products, automobile and truck brakes, roof castings, and applications where the fibres are encased in other 

materials and are unlikely to become free-floating. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 2,000,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $3.2bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: N/A 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: N/A 

Top 5 countries by Production: N/A 

 

Tungsten 

 

Tungsten is a shiny, silvery-white metal. Tungsten was used extensively for the filaments of old-style 

incandescent light bulbs, but these have been phased out in many countries. This is because they are not very 

energy efficient; they produce much more heat than light. Tungsten has the highest melting point of all metals 

and is alloyed with other metals to strengthen them. Tungsten and its alloys are used in many high-temperature 

applications, such as arc-welding electrodes and heating elements in high-temperature furnaces. Tungsten 

carbide is immensely hard and is very important to the metal-working, mining and petroleum industries. It is 

made by mixing tungsten powder and carbon powder and heating to 2200°C. It makes excellent cutting and 

drilling tools, including a new „painless‟ dental drill which spins at ultra-high speeds. Calcium and magnesium 

tungstates are widely used in fluorescent lighting. The principal tungsten-containing ores are scheelite and 

wolframite. The metal is obtained commercially by reducing tungsten oxide with hydrogen or carbon. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 86,400t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $2.78bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: 2,463,700t 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: $79.44bn 

Top 5 countries by Production: China, Vietnam, Russia, Canada, Bolivia 

 

Gypsum 

 

Gypsum is an evaporite mineral most commonly found in layered sedimentary deposits in association with 

halite, anhydrite, sulphur, calcite, and dolomite. Gypsum is very similar to Anhydrite (CaSO4). The chemical 

difference is that gypsum contains two waters and anhydrite is without water. Gypsum is the most common 

sulphate mineral. Gypsum uses include: manufacture of wallboard, cement, plaster of Paris, soil conditioning, a 

hardening retarder in portland cement. Varieties of gypsum known as "satin spar" and "alabaster" are used for a 

variety of ornamental purposes; however, their low hardness limits their durability. 

 

BGS 2016 Production: 263,000,000t 

BGS 2016 Production Value: $2.36bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: N/A 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: N/A 

Top 5 countries by Production: N/A 

 

Magnesium 

 

Magnesium is the eighth most abundant element and constitutes about 2% of the Earth's crust, and it is the third 

most plentiful element dissolved in seawater. Although magnesium is found in over 60 minerals, only dolomite, 

magnesite, brucite, carnallite, and olivine are of commercial importance.  Magnesium and other magnesium 

compounds are also produced from seawater, well and lake brines and bitterns.  Magnesium compounds, 

primarily magnesium oxide, are used mainly as refractory material in furnace linings for producing iron and 

steel, nonferrous metals, glass, and cement. Magnesium oxide and other compounds also are used in 

agricultural, chemical, and construction industries. Magnesium metal's principal use is as an alloying addition to 
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aluminium; these aluminium-magnesium alloys are used mainly for beverage cans.   Magnesium alloys also are 

used as structural components of automobiles and machinery.  Magnesium also is used to remove sulphur from 

iron and steel. 

BGS 2015 Production: 1,010,000t 

BGS 2015 Production Value: $2.32bn 

2016 Reserves/Resources: N/A 

2016 Reserves/Resources Value: N/A 

Top 5 countries by Production: China, Unites States, Israel, Russia, South Korea 

 

7.1 Overview of the current portfolio of ICL 

 

The ICL portfolio has been built with long term value in mind. The Company will typically invest over a 5-10 

year timeline, investing at low points in the cycle, and looks to exit investments as they mature. Private equity 

company ASAF Critical Metals Limited contributed assets to enable the portfolio to reach its current state. The 

Company‟s investment mandate is to be a minority shareholder with a well-researched multiple investment 

strategy. 

 

The portfolio of the equity investments of ICL as at 30
th

 September  2017 is as follow: 

 

Company name 
% 

holding 
Sector 

Date of Initial 

investment 

Basis of 

valuation 

Value as at 30
th

 

September 2017 

AGB Resource Capital 

Limited 

5.02% Fund - 

Resources 

2015 NAV $52,464,674 

APA Energy Streaming 

Limited 

1.83% Mining - 

Finance 

2016 Cost 

 

$32,560,003 

CBLSE Group Limited 4.7% Fund- Resources 2016 Cost $56,629,995 

Ecumene Mining 

Limited 

6.00% Mining –

Diversified 

2017 Cost $22,714,937 

Future Energy Resources 

Limited 

4.09% Mining – Energy 2015 Cost $63,461,540 

Indus Infrastructure 

Partners Limited 

3.90% Mining - 

Diversified 

2015 Cost $10,500,000 

OTH Mineral Streaming 

Limited 

5.14% Mining – 

Finance 

2016 Cost $64,000,000 

Pan Southern Metals 

Limited 

4.17% Mining - Metals 2017 Cost $47,000,000 

Quantum Investing 

Management Limited 

11.95% Fund – Multi 

strategy 

2017 Cost $7,167,219 

TOTAL     $356,498,370 

 

 

7.1.1 AGB Resource Capital Limited 

 

Sector: Fund – Resources Date of initial investment: 2015 

Location: Singapore Cost of investment: USD 19.94 per share 

Fiscal year end: 30 April Current fair value: USD 20.91 per share 

Base currency: USD % NAV as at 30.09.17 14.72% 

% of company owned: 5.02% Valuation basis: NAV 

Company domicile: MI Company status: Fund  

Company number: 89066 URL: www.agbresourcecapital.com 

 

Company highlights 
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 AGB Resource Capital Limited takes an equity stake in and management oversight of emerging resources 

companies, providing essential funding for superior returns. 

 It invests in management who have integrity, a long term vision and whose interests are united with 

shareholders. 

 It believes that an investment opportunity is created when a company‟s growth prospects are not 

recognised or the market is mispriced. 

 Its valuation criteria are based upon what it believes a business can return in a five years investment cycle. 

 It has outperformed the overall mining sector since inception in 2011. 

 It believes that its portfolio is ideally positioned to take advantage of an upturn in the mining sector. 

For their current fiscal year ending 30
th

 April 2018, AGB Resource Capital Limited are projecting fair value 

gains of $2.97 per share. This is projected to increase their net asset value per share to $23.88 as at the 30
th

 April 

2018. 

Market overview 

 

Investments in Mining and Natural Resources can provide superior returns on 

capital deployed. 

The mining industry is crucial to everyday life. Mined products are required to 

build highways, electrical and communication networks, housing, vehicles, 

electronics and many other items essential to modern life. 

Global economic growth is expected to remain stable in 2015, with projections 

for a growth  rate of 3.6% in 2015. Comparable trends are also forecast by the 

International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank. 

Some analysts interpret this as an indication that the global economy is 

transitioning towards a period of slower, but more stable growth which is an 

ideal environment  for mining and natural resources. 

 

Executive summary 

 

AGB Resource Capital is an established niche private equity investor in the 

mining and energy sectors. 

Its management and business network have an enviable depth of resources and 

banking industry experience and a track record of creating value, delivering 

superior returns on investment, and lasting client relationships. 

Through a series of private equity investments AGB Resource Capital provides 

institutions and sophisticated high net worth investors with an interest in 

capitalising on the natural resources industry's growth and with the means to do 

so, a managed portfolio  of risk and opportunity. 

With  a proven track record AGB Resource Capital works with  developing 

resource and mining  companies to  leverage expertise, networks  and their  

potential,  to  deliver  the needed capital for project development that deliver 

superior returns. 

AGB Resource Capital is a resources focused private  equity  group  that  

partners  with investee  companies  to  build  solid,  successful, sustainable  

businesses that   produce superior returns. 

AGB Resource Capital's remit is to invest as a development  stage growth 

investor that is primarily   focused  on  natural  resources. This  being  said, the  

group  also  invests  in refinancing and expansion opportunities  at existing 

operations that have the potential for further  growth. Projects are expected to be 

low cost as compared to the general mining industry, profitable across the 

business cycle and offer commensurate returns for the risks involved. 

AGB Resource Capital typically seeks potential high return projects with 

companies that have committed and talented management. The Group invests its 

capital in a step by step manner in line with the capital needs of the project 

through its development and commissioning phases. AGB Resource Capital has 

the ability to invest capital directly or if necessary, on a larger scale through co-

investment with other financial partners. 
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AGB Resource  Capital expect to hold its investments for the medium to longer 

term and seek to  have a  significant but  minority  position  in  each of  their  

direct  investments. Investments   are structured  according   to   the   individual    

project   and   company circumstances. AGB Resource Capital is an engaged 

investor and is actively involved with management. The Group monitors the 

performance of the portfolio companies through frequent communication with 

management and regular analysis of operating results. AGB Resource Capital is 

able to provide advice regarding  financial matters,  including  the evaluation and 

implications of acquisition and divesture opportunities, strategic and long term 

planning, and refinancing options. 

 

Investment strategy 

 

AGB Resource Capital expects investments in companies sensitive to the 

economic cycle to  be conservative in  their  forecasting  in the  current  market, 

however  the  portfolio targeted as it is on growth markets  enables it to look for 

strong medium term growth. It believes there  are investments in this sector 

which can grow  consistently and achieve above average levels of capital growth 

and income distribution. 

 

AGB Resource Capital invests in both  growth  equity  and debt  financing as an 

active investor. Its investments are made through  identifying  experienced 

entrepreneurs  and proven management teams and, together with them, 

developing value from within their business. As an integral part  of its 

partnerships the company expects management to invest alongside AGB 

Resource Capital. This is crucial to make sure that all interests are aligned. Once 

management and the required financial backing are securely in place, the main 

sources of growth  often  come from  identifying  issues within  their  business 

and taking a pragmatic approach to overcoming those issues. 

 

Investment criteria 

 

AGB Resource Capital look to make Investments in mining and natural resource 

projects that: 

 Have a positive impact on one or more of the Fund's target outcomes: 

 Have a strong experienced management team, capable of delivering to 

plan; 

 Have strong business models that are able to generate reasonable, 

sustainable returns on capital; 

 Are achieving, or have the  potential  to  achieve, impact  and public  

benefit  in regions that they operate; 

 Can provide evidence of how they impact on one of the Fund's Target 

Outcomes and who are committed to measuring their on-going impact 

performance; and 

 Whose approach is scalable to meet a significant proportion  of the need 

they address. 

 

AGB Resource Capital is committed  to investing for impact, but is neutral on 

the legal form and jurisdiction of organisation they invest in. This means the 

company invests in all legal structures so long as impact on its target outcomes is 

clear, measurable and at the core of its business activity. 

Core to AGB's investment criteria is that our investee Companies can 

demonstrate a Cash flow which typically follows a "J-curve" -capital  outflows 

generally occur in years three to five and capital distributions  teed to occur in 

years five to ten of the investment cycle. Returns are typically cyclical. 

 

Investment process Once AGB have identified  a potential  investment  and agreed terms  the  
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 Investment Process starts with initial risk analysis. AGB have a depth of 

business research experience where they seek to analyse the risks inherent to the 

relevant industry. (A large percentage of Companies do not pass these Criteria). 

Once a potential  investee company has passed AGB"S extensive risk profiling, 

it will then complete a thorough analysis of their accounts, their  projections,  

their  current  financial condition,  and how  the  Company has been funded to 

date, and importantly  how they have deployed their capital. 

 

AGB then sends a technical team to look at the resource projects in question, the 

geology and the economic potential of the geology is the Key. Finally, AGB 

hold several meetings with  management, and drill  down  into  their  business. 

This being said, if  there  is an outstanding mine, however it is poorly managed 

AGB will look to become involved, and bring in managers to provide the 

existing team with additional expertise. Once all boxes have been ticked, and all 

doubts extinguished, AGB will negotiate with the stakeholders to attribute  the 

correct valuation for investment. 

 

7.1.2 APA Energy Streaming Limited 

 

Sector: Mining – Finance Date of initial investment: 2016 

Location: China Cost of investment: USD 4.44 per share 

Fiscal year end: 31 December Current fair value: USD 4.44 per share 

Base currency: USD % NAV as at 30.09.17 9.13% 

% of company owned: 1.83% Valuation basis: Cost 

Company domicile: Marshall Islands Company status: Private 

Company number: 77973 URL: www.apaenergy.com 

 

Company Highlights 
 

 APA Energy Streaming  ("APA")  is focused  on  becoming  a leading energy "Streaming Company". 

 APA is one of the first movers in the streaming of energy minerals. 

 APA plans to list publicly in 2018 with the benefit of a strong asset base as well as the network necessary to 

exploit a major energy streaming opportunity. 

 Once  public   APA  will   utilise   public   currency  to   acquire  further undervalued assets. 

 Demand for energy will grow exponentially between now  and 2050 as the global population grows to over 9 

billion. 

 APA is focused on the streaming  of energy resources and is initially focused on Uranium and Coal. 

 For their current fiscal year ending 31
st
 December 2018, APA are projecting revenues of $22.7m and net 

income of $14.3m. 

  

Executive summary APA is focused on becoming a leading energy "Streaming Company". 

APA Energy Streaming Limited ("APA") plan to list in 2018; strong asset base and 

network, necessary to exploit streaming. 

Once public APA will utilise public currency to acquire further undervalued assets. 

APA is one of the first movers in the streaming of energy minerals. 

APA is focused on streaming for energy resources and is initially focused on Uranium 

and Coal. 

  

Strategy APA is initially focusing on two resources, Coal and Uranium. 

 APA offers streaming contracts to developers of Coal and Uranium. 

 The area of focus for APA are in the Asia Pacific region. 

 APA is a first mover in Energy Streaming and believes there is an opportunity to 

build a substantial energy streaming business over the next 5-10 years. 
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 APA management and network have a substantial contact base. 

 

Focused Resource - Coal Coal is a combustible, sedimentary, organic rock, which is composed mainly of 

carbon, hydrogen and oxygen. It is formed from vegetation, which has been 

consolidated between other rock strata and altered by the combined effects of 

pressure and heat over millions of years to form coal seams.   

 

Coal is a fossil fuel and is far more plentiful than oil or gas, with an estimated 

around 110 years of coal remaining worldwide.  

 

Not only does coal provide electricity, it is also an essential fuel for steel and 

cement production, and other industrial activities. 

 

Coal formation began during the Carboniferous Period - known as the first coal 

age - which spanned 360 million to 290 million years ago. The build-up of silt 

and other sediments, together with movements in the earths crust buried swamps 

and peat bogs, often to great depths. With burial, the plant material was 

subjected to high temperatures and pressures: this caused physical and chemical 

changes in the vegetation, transforming it into peat and then into coal. 

   

Uses of Coal It was during the Industrial Revolution in the 18th and 19th centuries that 

demand for coal surged.  The history of coal mining and use is inextricably 

linked with that of the Industrial Revolution – iron and steel production, rail 

transportation and steamships. 

 

With the development of electric power in the 19
th

 century, coal‟s future became 

closely tied to electricity generation. 

 

Oil finally overtook coal as the largest source of primary energy in the 1960‟s, 

with the huge growth in the transportation sector. 

 

Steam coal, also known as thermal coal, is used in power stations to generate 

electricity. 

 

Metallurgical or coking coal is essential for iron and steel production; around 

two-thirds of steel production worldwide comes from iron made in blast 

furnaces which use coal. 

 

In a number of countries coal is converted into a liquid fuel – a process known 

as liquefaction. The liquid fuel can be refined to produce transport fuels and 

other oil products, such as plastics and solvents. 

 

Coal is also used as an energy source in cement production. 

 

Other important users of coal include alumina refineries, paper manufacturers, 

and the chemical and pharmaceutical industries.  Several chemical products can 

be produced from the by-products of coal.  Refined coal tar is used in the 

manufacture of chemicals, such as creosote oil, naphthalene, phenol, and 

benzene. Ammonia gas recovered from coke ovens is used to manufacture 

ammonia salts, nitric acid and agricultural fertilisers.  

 

Thousands of different products have coal or coal by-products as components: 

soap, aspirins, solvents, dyes, plastics and fibres, such as rayon and nylon. 

 

Focused Resource URANIUM 

  

Uranium is a very heavy metal which can be used as an abundant source of 

concentrated energy. 
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Uranium occurs in most rocks in concentrations of 2 to 4 parts per million and is 

as common in the Earth's crust as tin, tungsten and molybdenum. Uranium 

occurs in seawater, and can be recovered from the oceans.  

Uranium has a melting point of 1,132°C. The chemical symbol for uranium is U. 

Uranium ore can be mined by underground or open-cut methods, depending on 

its depth. After mining, the ore is crushed and ground up. Then it is treated with 

acid to dissolve the uranium, which is recovered from solution. 

 

Industrial applications/uses 

 

• The high density of uranium means that it also finds uses in the 

keels of yachts and as counterweights for aircraft control surfaces, 

as well as for radiation shielding. 

• About 12% of the world's electricity is generated from uranium in 

nuclear reactors. This amounts to over 2500 billion kWh each year, 

as much as from all sources of electricity worldwide in 1960. 

• Using relatively small special-purpose nuclear reactors it is 

possible to make a wide range of radioactive materials 

(radioisotopes) at low cost. For this reason the use of artificially-

produced radioisotopes has become widespread since the early 

1950‟s, and there are now over 200 "research" reactors in 56 

countries producing them.  These are essentially neutron factories 

rather than sources of heat. 

• In medicine, radioisotopes are widely used for diagnosis and 

research. Radioactive chemical tracers emit gamma radiation which 

provides diagnostic information about a person's anatomy and the 

functioning of specific organs. Radiotherapy also employs 

radioisotopes in the treatment of some illnesses, such as cancer. 

• In the growing of crops and breeding livestock, radioisotopes also 

play an important role. They are used to produce high yielding, 

disease-resistant and weather-resistant varieties of crops, to study 

how fertilisers and insecticides work, and to improve the 

productivity and health of domestic animals. 

• Industrially, and in mining, they are used to examine welds, to 

detect leaks, to study the rate of wear of metals, and for on-stream 

analysis of a wide range of minerals and fuels. 

 

Summary APA is focused on becoming a leading energy “Streaming Company”. 

 APA Energy Streaming Limited (“APA”) plan to list in 2018; strong asset 

base and network, necessary to exploit streaming. 

 Once public APA will utilise public currency to acquire further undervalued 

assets. 

 APA is one of the first movers in the streaming of energy minerals. 

 APA is focused on streaming for energy resources and is initially focused on 

Uranium and Coal. 

 

 

7.1.3 CBLSE Group Limited 

 

Sector: Fund - Resources Date of initial investment: 2016 

Location: UAE Cost of investment: USD 6.02 per share 

Fiscal year end: 31 July Current fair value: USD 6.02 per share 

Base currency: USD % NAV as at 30.09.17 15.89% 

% of company owned: 4.70% Valuation basis: NAV 

Company domicile: Marshall Islands Company status: Fund 

Company number: 48144 URL: www.cblsewealth.com 



 

Infrastructure Commodities (Mauritius) Ltd Business Plan/2018 Page 31 
 

 

Company highlights 

 

 The CBLSE Group was created in 2014 when a private equity group with a ten-year successful track record 

combined with a wealth management company that was founded in 2000 to form the CBLSE Group. 

 CBLSE Group is a long term investor and invests in resource assets during market cycles. 

 CBLSE Group seeks long term growth, maximum risk-adjusted returns. 

 It invests across a broad spectrum of natural resource assets, from stable geographical regions to frontier 

markets, thereby having a diversified portfolio of investments. 

 Over the coming two decades, CBLSE Group expects supply imbalances driven by global economic and 

population growth will create unprecedented opportunities in the natural resources sector. 

 For their current fiscal year ending 31
st
 July 2018 CBLSE Group are projecting fair value gains of $0.17 per 

share. This is projected to increase their net asset value per share to $7.84 as at the 31st July 2018. 

 

Market Overview The opportunities in the mining sector are not without challenges, and many are 

unique to the sector. 

There are two principal difficulties inherent in the mining sector that private  equity 

investors must contend with: cost of capital and volatility, both of which may be 

better handled by private equity investors with a strategic outlook. 

Historically at least, strategic investors have tended to have a lower cost of capital 

than traditional  private equity firms, which has allowed them to pay a higher price 

for assets with financing. 

Private equity investors such as CBLSE Group that invest with a strategic outlook, 

on the other hand, may be better suited to secure leverage by pledging other assets 

as security. 

Executive Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Investment Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

CBLSE Group Private Equity provides efficient  access to the asset class private 

equity in the natural resource sector for investors interested in long term growth. 

The Fund invests in companies across natural  resource sectors which the  

manager has identified  have significant long-term growth prospects. 

The manager has a track  record  of  outperforming the  overall  mining  sector 

and has chosen companies  and  commodities  that  the  manager believes  will  

outperform  the overall market in the medium term in line with macro-economic 

condition. 

 

CBLSE Group is a long-term investor and invests in resource assets during market 

cycles. CBLSE  seek long term  growth, and maximum  risk-adjusted returns. 

Their team has in depth industry experience with extensive knowledge of 

commodities and growth market dynamics. 

 

Over the coming two  decades,  CBLSE Group expects that  supply imbalances 

driven by global economic and population  growth  will create unprecedented 

opportunities  in the natural resources sector. The majority of resources for 

metals and minerals are located in emerging economies, where a significant 

number of new projects are being undertaken. 
 

CBLSE  Group's  strategy  is to  identify   high  quality  mining  projects  with  

appropriate valuations  that  have  exceptional  long-term  upside.  The  projects  

that  CBLSE  Group considers range from exploration properties through to post 

production assets. 
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CBLSE  Group looks to  utilise a range of innovative  financing options  when 

structuring private  equity investments. The nature  of being a private  equity 

company means that CBLSE Group has a large breadth of scope to work with 

prospective investee companies to tailor specific investment strategies to suit the 

requirements of the company which can include working with other partners from 

CBLSE Group's extensive network of banks and financial  institutions. The 

Group's primary focus is working with natural resource companies that can 

demonstrate strong management, solid geology and focused cost control. CBLSE 

also offers highly competitive public, private equity and fixed-income solutions, 

access to sophisticated global strategic and institutional investors, and mining 

M&A experience. 

 

 

Investment Criteria  CBLSE Group's focus is on investment opportunities  in growth  markets. The 

company's team has superior mining valuation skills, in addition to its on-the-

ground experience in evaluating projects. 

The mining focus is on larger assets, high value deposits and high-quality mines 

which are positioned in the lower half of their sector's cost curve, thus increasing 

the potential  for strong capital gains throughout  the commodity  life cycle. 

Investments generally are late stage, near production  or  with  a  defined  resource; 

however  earlier  stage exploration projects  with  good  potential  for  large 

resources are also considered. CBLSE  Group's private  equity division transacts 

deals with  private companies, preferably prior  to their going public. The company 

also acquires projects owned by private entities. 

 

CBLSE Group invests in companies which are beyond the scoping study phase of 

development. Hence, the focus is on development, near-production and early-

production projects. Typically, this can be mines that have operated previously, or 

are under-utilised, and under-funded. CBLSE Group may consider investing in 

earlier stage companies if they have a prospective large resource. 

 

7.1.4 Ecumene Mining Limited 

 

Sector: Mining – 

diversified 

Date of initial investment: 2017 

Location: Marshall Islands Cost of investment: USD 1.04 per share 

Fiscal year end: 31 December Current fair value: USD 1.04 per share 

Base currency: USD % NAV as at 30.09.17 6.37% 

% of company owned: 6.00% Valuation basis: Cost 

Company domicile: Marshall Islands Company status: Private 

Company number: 87640 URL: www.ecumenemining.com 

 

 

Company highlights 

 

 Ecumeme Mining Limited („EML‟) is developing valuable mining assets in partnership with state owned 

entities in identifies emerging markets to exploit underdeveloped minerals reserves. 

 Three private equity groups have vended in assets and expertise to form EML in order to take advantage of 

the unique window of opportunity that currently exists in the market place. 

 EML will commence selling down its legacy assets in fiscal year 2018 to finance development of acquired 

mining assets. EML projects developing a minimum of two mining licenses a year over the next five years. 

The company expects to make substantial capital gains as each mining licence is developed. 



 

Infrastructure Commodities (Mauritius) Ltd Business Plan/2018 Page 33 
 

 Current short term market conditions in the mining industry mean that EML has a counter cyclical 

opportunity to acquire valuable assets at a deep discount. 

 For their current fiscal year ending 31
st
 December 2018 Ecumene Mining Limited are projecting fair value 

gains of $0.16 per share. This is projected to increase the net asset value per share to $2.06 as at the 31
st
 

December 2018. 

Market overview Natural resources projects typically progress through several stages of development in 

a sequence known as the "development curve". Each stage reached is considered to 

merit increasing investment  values as a percentage of the project's  overall worth.  

This is a function of the perceived reduction in the project's risk associated with 

progress towards full production. 

 

The first stage following  the discovery of a natural resource deposit is known  as "first 

resources", when the extent of the resource is first estimated. At the first resources 

stage, investments are generally made at a price in the region of 25% of the project's 

potential net present value based on management's operating and cost assumptions. All 

licenses that Ecumene enters into are at least at the first stage and have immediate value 

of 25% of the NPV once the license is executed. 

 

The second stage occurs when feasibility studies have been completed. It is at the point 

that natural resources projects frequently seek further financing, often by way of a trade 

sale or initial  public offering  (IPO). Such further  financing may occur at a price in the 

region of 50% of the project's estimated net present value. The timeline between the 

first stage (25% of NPV) and the second stage (50% of NPV) is typically 12-18 

months. 

 

Following the financing, the project is developed to "first  production"  when the 

natural resource deposit is extracted in meaningful quantities for the first time. This 

stage on the development curve marks a significant increase in value and the project 

should be valued in  the  region  of  90% of  its  estimated  net  present  value. Once the 

project is in full production, its worth is considered to have reached the full net present 

value. 

 

Executive summary Ecumene has a global network  of business relationships that facilitates  every aspect of 

the  economic  development   of  natural   resources  including,  legal,  capital  markets, 

infrastructure,  sustainable development, industrial  integration,  economic planning and 

social impact. 

Ecumene recognizes that the development of natural resource assets is part of an 

overall development package that implemented correctly will contribute  significantly 

to the local economy and the local environment. 

Ecumene works with its partners to help deliver a bespoke program that will achieve 

the sustainable  development  of  natural  resource  assets to  achieve  the  maximum  

local benefit. 

Ecumene will  use its  development  network  to  add value  and  introduce  partners  to 

develop adjunct industries in parallel with the development of natural resource assets 

creating considerable additional benefits to its partners. 

Ecumene finance division aside from resource development expertise provides it 

partners access to specific expertise and partnerships in the capital markets. 

 

Ecumene Capital  

 

Ecumene Capital provides capital markets expertise as well as advice and introductions  

to the  development  partnership  with  regards to  development  of  mining  and 
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associated assets. 

 

Ecumene Capital can originate transactions (with the joint venture and separately) then, 

source partners and capital. These activities can include public and private  offerings of 

equities and debt, merger and acquisition advice and the establishment of joint ventures 

and other development vehicles. 

 

Ecumene Capital can access the relevant global capital markets and provide  services to 

the development partnership. 

 

Ecumene Capital  can assist the appropriate  local entity  or entities to prepare, for local 

approval, revisions to  local mining, commerce, investment  and other  relevant  laws to 

increase local access to  foreign  capital  whilst  remaining  respectful  of  local laws 

and customs. 

 

The development partnership can also align local organisations with relevant global 

trade organisations (World Bank, etc.) and provide access to economic analysis and 

research via links with leading global academic institutions. 

 

 

Ecumene Engineering 

Ecumene's subsidiary, Ecumene Engineering, provides geological engineering and 

mining services expertise through geologists qualified to issue JORC reports. 

 

Ecumene Engineering have the resource to assist with a survey of local mineral assets 

toJORC standards, thereby increasing value substantially. 

JORC Data can be stored in formats desired by local market to assist overall 

development plans. 

 

Ecumene Engineering can also introduce and develop new mining technologies for the 

use of the development partnership. 

 

Ecumene Engineering can help maximise local human capital through  the development 

partnership by preparing training  courses for the local trained geologists to operate to 

JORC standards. 

 

Ecumene Engineering can arrange appropriate  academic knowledge and technology 

transfer to facilitate  the academic training and the development  of commercially 

viable proprietary technology for the development partnership. 

 

7.1.5 Future Energy Resources Limited 

 

 

Sector: Mining - Energy Date of initial investment: 2015 

Location: GIB Cost of investment: USD 5.00 per share 

Fiscal year end: 31 December Current fair value: USD 5.00 per share 

Base currency: USD % NAV as at 30.09.17 17.8% 

% of company owned: 4.09% Valuation basis: Cost  

Company domicile: BVI Company status: Private 

Company number: 1750079 URL: www.futureenrgresources.com 

 

Company highlights 
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 Future Energy Resources Limited („FERL‟) is focused on developing large resource assets that will be 

used in the energy sector where FERL can add significant value through enhanced processes. 

 FERL will develop existing fossil fuels with low emission technologies which will be more 

environmentally friendly and energy efficient. 

 Current market conditions are ideal for FERL who will build additional critical mass by making 

opportunistic acquisitions. 

 FERL will invest into renewable energy solutions and new technologies for the future that enhance 

productivity and sustainability, ensuring that current and future resources that the company develops add 

significant value. 

 For their current fiscal year ending 31
st
 December 2018, FERL are projecting revenues of $47.2m and net 

income of $26.7m. 

Market overview Coal provides 30% of global primary energy needs and generates over 41% of the 

world's electricity. It is also used in the production of over 70% of the world's 

steel. 

 

Total world coal production reached a record level of 8,022.5 Mt in 2014. 

 

There are over 860 billion  tonnes of proven coal reserves worldwide.  This 

means that there is enough coal to last us around 120 years at current rates of 

production. 

 

Globally, renewable generation is estimated to rise to 25% of gross power 

generation in 2018, up from 20% in 2011 as deployment spreads out globally.    

In 2013, renewable power capacity expanded at its fastest pace to date. 

 

Globally, renewable  electricity  generation  is now  on par with  natural gas 

generation, which remained relatively stable in 2013. Investment in new 

renewable power capacity topped USD 250 billion globally in 2013 and is likely 

to remain at high levels. 

 

Executive summary FER  Energy Holdings ("FER") is focused on the sustainable development  of 

world  class energy resource assets in Africa and Asia.  FER  is focused on 

developing large resource assets that will be used in the energy sector where FER 

can add significant value though new technologies and enhanced processes. 

Management and Advisors of the Company have a wealth of experience in 

developing companies in the resource sector and believe that  targeted  resource 

acquisitions will  create a global leader in the  energy resource sector. 

 

FER is focused on coal as coal fuels more global electricity that any other source. 

Between now and 2050 over a million  people a week are moving to cities and 

embracing a better quality of life that requires greater amounts of energy and steel.  

Today's advanced coal technologies fuel, clean, low cost energy for tens of 

millions of people. Coal is the world's fastest growing major fuel and is expected to 

become the largest global energy source in coming years. FER will also focus on 

renewable energy technologies as they are a crucial part of a portfolio  of options 

that are needed to achieve a secure and sustainable energy mix, together with 

energy efficiency and other low carbon options. 

 

Corporate strategy FER's strategy is to develop coal assets in Asia and Africa, with an open remit to 

explore renewable energy projects in those regions.  FER is currently focused on 

sustainably developing  coal assets in  Africa  and Asia and  will  expand into  

other  energy natural resources such as natural gas and uranium when the 
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opportunity arises. 

 

7.1.6 Indus Infrastructure Partners Limited 

 

Sector: Mining -Diversified Date of initial investment: 2015 

Location: UAE Cost of investment: USD 0.70 per share 

Fiscal year end: 30 June Current fair value: USD 0.70 per share 

Base currency: USD % NAV as at 30.09.17 2.95%  

% of company owned: 3.90%  Valuation basis: Cost 

Company domicile: BC Company status: Private 

Company number: 1099798 URL: www.indusinfrastructurepartners.com 

 

Company highlights 

 

 Indus Infrastructure Partners  Limited   ("IIP")   has  an   established   partnership template, that  it 

has successfully used previously, benefitting both IIP and its partners. 

 IIP  has  identified  12  countries   in  South  Asia  and  Africa   with significantly under developed  

resources, the target  markets  have abundant  resources but  do not have the financial or human 

capital to efficiently develop them. 

 IIP  provides   more   than   mining;   IIP  provides   valuable   add-on services  and  products  to  its  

partners  and  the  local  communities where the projects are situated. 

 IIP is focused on metals; a $600 billion market  with  90 different metals, IIP specifically  focused 

on higher  value metals  that  are in short supply in the near and medium term. 

 Significant  value  extracted  for  IIP and  its  partners  as the  mining projects  are navigated  through  

"The  Mining Development Curve", using IIP's global  network that  ensures that  the  partnership 

maximises the assets available. 

 For their current fiscal year ending 30
th

 June 2018, IIP are projecting fair value gains of $0.18 per 

share. This is projected to increase their net asset value per share to $2.08 as at the 30
th

 June 2018. 

 

Market overview The demand for base minerals has been fuelled by global demand for key 

infrastructure as emerging markets urbanisation has progressed rapidly in the last 

ten years. 

 

Emerging markets are in the process of overtaking developed markets and are 

forecast to represent 59% of global GDP and 55% of global equity markets by 

2030. 

 

Emerging markets'  GDP is projected  to  grow  by over  250% between  2010 

and 2030 (developed markets' GDP is projected to grow by 50% for the same 

period). 

 

In  conjunction  with   urbanisation,  population  growth  will  also  significantly  

increase demands for energy, other resources and infrastructure. World 

population is set to grow from 6.6 billion in 2010 to over 9 billion by 2050 

according to the World Bank. 

 

Executive summary IIP has been established to take advantage of an identified gap in the market and 

believe its partnership strategy with state owned entities in emerging markets 

will enable it to create a "major" metals company over the next five years. 

 

IIP has identified 12 countries in South Asia and Africa with significantly under 

developed resources and the 12 identified target markets have abundant 

resources but do not have the financial or human capital to efficiently develop 

http://www.indusinfrastructurepartners.com/
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them. 

 

IIP is leveraging off of the successful track record of its founders and major 

shareholders and plans to list as a public private equity company in 2018. 

 

In the next five years IIP is targeting entering into five development partnerships 

and ten licenses with five different  state-owned entities in emerging markets in 

South Asia and Africa. 

 

Investment strategy The lowest value per license for the production mining companies is $316 

million (median $584 million). 

 

An indication of the potential value creation in the metals sector using this 

strategy is the sale of Xstrata to Glencore, which was sold ten years after it was 

listed at $2 billion for $44 billion, a multiple of 22 times its initial listing 

valuation; in the same time period the DOW JONES index increased 1.6 times. 

 

IIP has an established global network  that  is able to  assist with  every aspect of  

the economic development  of resources including;  legal, capital markets, 

infrastructure, sustainable development, industrial  integration,  economic  

planning  and social impact. Whilst  using IIP's development  network  to  

develop  selected metals assets the  state owned  entity  can also use the  same 

template  for  developing other  non-metal mining assets with  other  partners.  In  

addition,  IIP's development  network  provides  various valuable add-on services 

that assist the region where the mine is located to help develop the local 

economy. 

 

IIP initially establishes the joint venture agreements with its development  

partners and then identifies  and agrees the assets to be developed. IIP then puts 

together the legal structure and development plan for the development of the 

assets in conjunction with its development partner; the assets are then developed 

and funded by a separate legal entity that   is  jointly   owned  by  IIP and  its  

development  partner.  Within   18  months  of establishment   the  legal  entity   

developing  the  asset  will   have  completed   multiple development   milestones  

thereby   creating   significant  value  for   both   IIP  and  its development 

partner. 

 

IIP "Resource Development" Partnerships 

 

IIP innovative  partnership  package enables IIP and its state owned  entity  

partners to create substantial value in the near term as IIP brings resource data up 

to international reporting  standards and  prepares  feasibility  reports  to  

international   standards whilst taking the licensed assets through the "Mining  

Development Value Chain". This process creates substantial capital value for 

both IIP and its partners, as well as creating value for the regions where the 

mines are situated, creating employment and tax income as well as creating 

downstream industries and local infrastructure  benefits. 

 

Development Partnerships 

 

IIP has an established partnership template, that it has successfully used 

previously, that benefits both IIP and its partners. 
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IIP provides a variety of services, including expertise and capital to enable the 

expedited development of resource assets on a sustainable basis. 

 

The structure IIP uses ensures that the joint  venture with its partner  retains 

control of the mining asset throughout the various stages of financing and 

development. 

 

As well as the extra benefit that they get from the partnership structure the state 

owned entities and the relevant government departments get the benefit of 

normal royalties (the joint venture pays standard market taxes and mining 

royalties) whilst retaining significant equity in the joint venture. 

 

The structure  that  IIP employs means that  the  state owned  entity  benefits  

from the upside of fully developing the mine whilst all of the normal government 

agencies receive market rate royalties and taxes. A key part of IIP's development  

partnership strategy is to ensure that a  portion of the profits  is allocated for 

sustainable development  which includes assisting with  the development of 

downstream industries in the local area. 

 

IIP innovative  development  partnership  structure  ensures that  the state owned  

entity that enters into the development partnership is encouraged to develop 

larger assets (illustrated below are examples of typical government mining deals, 

which help outline the advantage of IIP's structure). 

 

7.1.7 OTH Minerals Limited 

 

Sector: Mining – Finance Date of initial investment: 2016 

Location: Switzerland Cost of investment: USD 3.20 per share 

Fiscal year end: 30 September Current fair value: USD 3.20 per share 

Base currency: USD % NAV as at 30.09.17 17.95% 

% of company owned: 5.14% Valuation basis: Cost  

Company domicile: Canada Company status: Private 

Company number: BC0998488 URL: www.othminerals.com 

Company highlights 

 

 OTH Mineral  Streaming Limited  (OTH) provides  finance for  companies that are producing 

energy commodities via forward  purchase streaming contracts. 

 OTH is focused on the following  essential energy commodities: oil, gas, coal and uranium. 

 Discovered Global Energy Commodity Reserves are worth $178.3 trillion and Global Energy 

Commodity Production is currently worth $2.4 trillion per annum. 

 Based on current production  and reserves data, there are approximately 60 years  of  Global  Energy 

Commodity   Reserves based  on  current consumption levels.  

 OTH have a global network that has extensive contacts in the four energy commodities on which OTH 

is focused. 

 For their current fiscal year ending 30
th

 September 2018, OTH are projecting revenues of $17.2m and 

net income of $8.6m. 

 

Market overview Oil, Natural Gas and Coal accounted for almost 86% of Global Energy 

Consumption. Energy production of $2.40 trillion is 3.2% of Global GOP (oil 

and gas production of $1.96 trillion is 2.6% of Global GOP). 

The largest region by energy commodity  reserves and production  is the  

Middle  East with 26.18% of global energy commodity  reserves and 25.47% of 

global energy commodity production.  By comparison the  Middle  East has 

http://www.othminerals.com/
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46.66% of global oil and gas reserves and 31.35% of global oil and gas 

production. The Middle East has 3.18% of the global population, 3.20% of 

global GOP and 4.08% of global land mass. 

 

North America has 17.58% of global energy commodity reserves and 19.73% 

of global energy production  with 28.85% of global GOP, 15.87% of global 

land mass and 7.72% of the global population. Asia and the Pacific has 23.50% 

of global energy commodity reserves and 21.24% of global energy production  

with  33.38% of  global GDP, 22.09% of  global land mass and 54.66% of the 

global population. 

 

Africa is the  region  with  the  lowest  energy commodity  reserves at 4.83% 

and the  second lowest energy commodity production at 7.22%. By comparison, 

Africa is the largest continent in the world with 22.61% of global land mass and 

has 16.26% of the global population and only 2.94% of global GDP. 

 

Executive summary OTH Mineral Streaming Limited (OTH) is a British Columbia Company 

focused on providing streaming and royalty finance for energy minerals.  

 

OTH was formed in April 2014 and valuable coal streaming purchase 

contracts and royalty agreements have been vended into the company with the 

intention of OTH becoming a leading participant in the providing of streaming 

and royalty agreements for energy commodities.  

 

The initial streaming contracts and royalty agreements have been for coal 

although it is the company‟s intention to finance other energy minerals as the 

opportunity arises. OTH intends to list publicly in the next 24 months. 

 

Through a streaming purchase contract the company provides an upfront 

payment to a mining company in exchange for purchasing a percentage of the 

future production of the mining company at a fixed cost price or a percent. 

Through a royalty agreement the company provides an upfront payment to a 

mining company in exchange for a fixed percentage of the mining company‟s 

ongoing revenues. 

 

OTH currently has three streaming purchase contracts and two royalty 

agreements. OTH has a contracted cost of production of $20 a tonne for all of 

its current coal streaming contracts. Based upon current coal price of $50 a 

tonne OTH will make a gross profit of $30 a tonne. OTH also has two royalty 

agreements where it receives 2% of sales from two major mining areas.  

 

Demand for energy will grow exponentially between now and 2050 with the 

global population predicted to grow to over 9 billion people.   

 

 

7.1.8 Pan Southern Metals Limited 

 

Sector: Mining -metals Date of initial investment: 2017 

Location: China Cost of investment: USD 3.76 per share 

Fiscal year end: 31 December Current fair value: USD 3.76 per share 

Base currency: USD % NAV as at 30.09.17 13.18% 

% of company owned: 4.17% Valuation basis: Cost 

Company domicile: MI Company status: Private 

Company number: 82967 URL: www.pansouthernmetals.com 

 

Company highlights 

 

 

http://www.pansouthernmetals.com/
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 Pan Southern  Metals  Limited  ("PSM"}  is  focused  on  becoming  a major supplier to the underserved  

strategic metals market place. 

 Strategic metals that  PSM is targeting are a $450 billion plus annual market. 

 PSM's  current   streaming   contracts   are  in  developing  economies without legacy mining  issues 

enabling mining best practices coupled with a low cost of production. 

 PSM is projecting that  revenues  will  increase significantly over the next  36 months  as current   

streaming  contracts  at  existing  mines ramps up. 

 PSM's is one of the first movers in the streaming of strategic metals. 

 Demand  for  strategic  metals  will  grow  significantly as the  global population and urbanisation 

increase. 

 For their current fiscal year ending 31
st
 December 2018, PSM are projecting revenues of $21.8m and net 

income of $14.2m. 

 

Market overview Current market  conditions  have created an unprecedented  opportunity  for  

streaming companies like Pan Southern Metals. 

 

Mining capital markets have corrected since the beginning of 2011, forcing large 

mining companies that overpaid for assets to focus on dramatically reducing costs. 

 

The World Bank Major  Metals price forecasts for 2015-2025  show that prices 

for major metals are forecast to remain constant at their current levels. 

 

Metals prices fuelled by increased demand have also recently sold off from 

their peaks but are now forecast for steady growth in the medium term in line 

with demand. 

 

Executive summary Pan Southern Metals Limited ("PSM") is building a major strategic metals 

company which is focused on streaming contracts in Asia and Africa. Metals are 

of ever increasing importance  in  21st century  life  and  are  needed  for  

infrastructure   growth  projected between now and 2050. Metals are involved in 

multiple  essential industrial applications and are expected to be in short supply 

going forward  and are commonly referred to as "Strategic Metals". 

 

PSM is focusing on developing a  basket of  strategic metals and have targeted 

specific metals that  have annual sales in excess of $450  billion  per annum. 

PSM will focus on companies in South East Asia and Africa which are also in 

the areas where substantial future demand for metals will be situated. 

 

Corporate strategy PSM is focused on providing streaming contracts to companies that sustainably 

develop high grade low cost strategic metals mines in Africa and Asia. Strategic 

metals that PSM is targeting are all forecast to suffer supply constraints in the 

short and medium term and represent  an annual market  of over $450  billion  

per annum. The company's financial projections are solely based on the current 

streaming contracts that PSM has completed. 

 

Investment rationale PSM is focused on providing streaming finance for world class strategic metals 

mines in Africa and Asia. 

 

The strategic metals that  PSM is targeting  are all forecasting supply 

constraints in the short and medium term and represent an annual market of over 

$450 billion per annum. 

 

PSM is ideally positioned to take advantage of current  conditions  in the  
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mining marketplace. 

 

7.1.9 Quantum Investing Management Limited 

 

Sector: Fund - Multistrategy Date of initial investment: 2017 

Location: Gibraltar Cost of investment: USD 0.50 per share 

Fiscal year end: 30 June Current fair value: USD 0.50 per share 

Base currency: USD % NAV as at 30.09.17 2.01% 

% of company owned: 11.95% Valuation basis: NAV 

Company domicile: BVI Company status: Fund 

Company number: 657356 URL: www.quantuminvestments.net 

 

Company highlights 

 

 Quantum  Investing  Management (QIM) is a multi-strategy fund  that has acquired  various  assets 

that  it will  develop  further creating significant additional value before selling. 

 QIM  assets are  focused  upon  investing  in  companies  that  provide finance to develop natural 

resources. 

 QIM  invests  in  private   equity   funds  and  also  directly   in  private companies. 

 QIM's    investments   consist   of    long   term    and   medium    term opportunities that are expected 

to produce above average returns. 

 Projected   economic   conditions  and  geographical   positioning  are favourable for the company's 

assets and long-term value proposition. 

 QIM is in the process of listing publicly, which it expects to complete in the first quarter of 2018,when 

it will become a listed private equity company. 

 For their current fiscal year ending 30
th

 June 2018, QIM are projecting fair value gains of $0.12 per 

share. This is projected to increase their net asset value per share to $0.62 as at the 30
th

 June 2018. 

 

Overview Quantum Investing Management Limited (QIM) aims to provide shareholders with  

long term capital growth through investment in private equity assets. This is achieved 

through investing in both private equity funds and direct investments in private 

companies. 

 

It  is QIM's  strategy  to  identify  entrepreneurial  and innovative  companies  with  

high growth potential and support them with their growth strategy. 

 

In addition  to direct buy-out  investments, QIM manager has vast experience in making 

third party fund investments. 

 

The insight  and  market  knowledge  of  QIM's  manager  is  a  significant  advantage in 

assessing co-investment and secondary opportunities 

 

The company aims to provide exposure to a portfolio  which is diversified but where the 

success of the larger investments can have a noticeable impact on overall performance 

 

QIM believes that the best way to earn superior returns, on a risk adjusted basis, is to 

invest in a portfolio  of  high quality  assets at reasonable prices. These businesses are 

grouped together by industry sector into verticals, each of which constitutes a platform 

for  a strategic  build-up  in  its  respective industry  sector. QIM's  team  of  

experienced industry executives assist the portfolio  companies management teams with  

operational expertise, focus and accountability.  QIM can also provide  access to growth  

capital for investee companies, both for organic growth and strategic acquisitions. 

 

http://www.quantuminvestments.net/
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Most of the companies that QIM invests in are at the smaller end of the middle market. 

QIM typically  invests in companies where  the  owner  is looking  for  a partner  to  

help execute on a growth plan. 

 

Investment strategy 

Direct Investments 

A disciplined value orientated  and value added approach to deliver superior returns on 

a risk-adjusted basis. 

 

A focus on high-quality micro-cap business in Europe and Asia bought at reasonable 

prices in partnership with management. 

 

A strategy  of  working  with  our  management  partners  at  each portfolio  company  

to enhance growth through operational focus and strategic acquisitions. 

 

A proprietary  network of intermediaries to help find investment opportunities that is 

not available generally. 

 

A diversified  portfolio  in terms of asset class and geography for both  of QIM's 

chosen sectors. 

 

Investment strategy Fund 

Investments 

 

 

 

Summary 

 

 

QIM is investing in buyout, growth equity and venture capital funds across developed 

and emerging economies in Asia and Europe. 

QIM provides access to a portfolio  of private  equity  fund  investments  and will  

invest continuously through economic cycles to achieve maximum value. 

 

Quantum  Investing  Management  Limited  (Quantum  Investing  Management)  looks  

to invest in companies that provide finance to mining companies, energy and metals. 

 

With long term demand for natural resources set to increase due to population  growth, 

GDP growth  and urbanisation, Quantum Investing Management believe the time is 

right for further investment in the mining sector. 

Quantum Investing Management owns a portfolio  of mining assets that should increase 

in value  as mining  sector  valuations  increase in  line  with  demand  growth  for  

natural resources. 

 

Quantum Investing Management is focused on mining finance assets and existing assets 

consist of convertible  loans to  mining companies as well as equity  investments in 

companies that  provide mining finance via streaming contracts, royalty agreements and 

offtake  agreements. 

 

The majority  of Quantum Investing Management's current  assets were acquired at low 

valuations and are all projecting significant growth in the next 5 years. 

 

Recent market conditions have resulted in listed mining finance companies making 

significant returns in the last 18 months. 
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8. THREE YEAR FINANCIAL FORECASTS OF ICML 

 

 
ICML is a Private Equity company focused on investing in companies that are developing commodities that can 

be used in the development of infrastructure. The forecasts detailed below are based upon the Company closing 

the contracted acquisition of 87.65% of ICL.  ICL has a portfolio of nine investments and is focused upon the 

growth of net asset value and as such the main contribution to revenue is movement in fair values based upon 

the expected performance forecasts of its portfolio of investments. ICL has a strict valuation policy for valuing 

its investments that is fully compliant with the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Guidelines 

(IPEVC) and International Financial Reporting Standardd („IFRS‟). There are also varying valuation methods 

utilised to estimate future performance of underlying investments, these are also used in conjunction with the 

company‟s valuation policy. ICL has a policy of being a long term investor, buying at low asset prices, and 

taking advantage of the significant uplifts that have historically taken place in the cyclical nature of the mining 

industry, driven by supply and demand dynamics. It is anticipated that once ICML is listed on the SEM the 

Company will pursue further acquisitions which are not accounted for in the current forecasts of ICML. 

 

It is also the intention of ICML to issue listed shares to the Investment Manager, as consideration for investment 

management services, which will entail that ICML will hold 87.22% of the share capital of ICL post acquisition. 

As such, the following financial forecasts are based on the effective holding of 87.22% of share capital of ICL. 

 

8.1 Statement of Profit and Loss and other comprehensive income for the period from 15
th

 November 2017 

to 30
th

 June 2018 and the three year period ending 30 June 2021. 

 

 The Company‟s manager has used the projections of its nine portfolio investments (b ased on 

impairment review carried out by the individual companies in order to estimate the projected 

revenue and net income of ICML for the period ending 30
th

 June 2018 and the years ending 

30
th

 June 2019, 30
th

 June 2020 and the 30
th

 June 2021. Thus, movement in fair value gains have 

been calculated for the individual portfolio companies for the period ending 30 June 2018 and the years 

ending 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2020 and aggregated. The fair value gains have been increased by 6% 

for the year ending 30 June 2021. 

 Equity Investments in portfolio companies are reviewed prior to the end of any accounting period to 

establish a Fair Value and changes in Fair Value are recognised in the Income Statement as either a 

profit or loss. The fair value of quoted investments is based upon the current bid price at the balance 

sheet date. Unquoted Investments are valued by reference to established IPEVC guidelines. The 

valuation methodology used most commonly by the Company is either the „price of recent investment‟ 

or the “net asset value” as contained in the IPEVC Guidelines. Where a fair value cannot be estimated 

reliably, the investment is reported at the carrying value at the previous reporting date unless there is 

evidence that the investment has since been impaired. With regards to the projections of ICL the 

company has used the projections of each individual portfolio company and aggregated these using the 

company‟s valuation policy as described above in order to estimate the company‟s profit and loss for 

the period ending 30th June 2018, 30th June 2019, 30th June 2020 and 30th June 2021.  The increase in 

fair value of the portfolio companies resides mainly in the fact that such companies would have reached 

maturity or close to maturity in their investment spectrum due to an increasing demand in infrastructure 

globally. 

 PE Management expenses are base fees charged by SGI Capital Limited, the Manager and are 

calculated as 1% of the gross assets under management monthly and then added for the 12 months. The 

Manager is also remunerated in shares. 

 General and administrative expenses include personnel costs, office administration costs, travelling 

expenses and professional fees.  The expenses for the period ending 30 June 2018 related to expenses 

for 9 months only. General and administrative expenses are projected to increase by 18% for the year 

ending 30 June 2020 and 5% for the year ending 30 June 2021. 

 Interest received includes to interest earned on cash balances at 0.25% in year 1 rising to 1% in future 
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years. 

 Interest expense includes to interest on notes payable to credit provider bearing interest at 6% per 

annum. 

 

Projected gross revenues through fair value gains are $13,146,500 for the period ending 30th June 2018, 

$56,708,250 for the year ending 30th June 2019, $72,619,500 for the year ending 30th June 2020 and 

$76,976,670 for the year ending 30
th

 June 2021. The annual management fee for the  per iod  ending 30th June 

2018 is forecast  to be $935,067 rising by the end of the forecast period to $4,852,802 in the year ending 

30th June 2021. Other operating expenses are relatively low beginning at $321,750 in the first period ending 

30th June 2018 rising to $972,520 in the year ending 30
th

 June 2021. 

 

The Company is projecting attributable net Income after tax of $10,329,243 for period ending 30th June 2018, 

$44,769,683 for the year ending 30
th

 June 2019, $57,738,897 for year ending 30th June 2020 and $61,311,330 

for the year ending 30
th

 June 2021.   

 

 

Group statements of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income  

15 Nov 2017 to 

 30 Jun 2018 

Year ending 

30 Jun 2019 

Year ending 

30 Jun 2020 

Year ending  

30 June 2021 

Revenues USD USD USD  

Movement in fair value of investments 13,146,500 56,708,250 72,619,500 76,976,670 

PE Management expenses (935,067) (3,987,776) (4,447,520) (4,852,802) 

Gross profit 12,211,433 52,720,474 68,171,980 72,123,868 

General and administrative expenses (321,750) (783,504) (926,212) (972,520) 

Operating income 11,889,683 51,936,970 67,245,768 71,151348 

Other income and expenses:     

Interest received 2,734 64,422 105,519 87,962 

Interest expense (11,838) (105,545)          (103,141) - 

Total other (expenses)/income (9,104) (41,123) 2,378 87,962 

Net income before income tax 11,880,579 51,895,847 67,248,146 71,239,310 

Income tax -  (509,360) (1,030,370) (1,043,156) 

Net income after tax 11,880,579 51,386,487 66,217,776 70,196,154 

Attributable to non-controlling interests                                    1,551,336            6,616,804              8,478,879 8,884,824 

Attributable to owners of ICML                                          10,329,243            44,769,683                57,738,897 61,311,330 

 

 

8.2 Statements of Financial Position as at 30
th

 June 2018, 30
th

 June 2019, 30
th

 June 2020 and 30
th

 June 

2021. 

 

The shareholders equity o f  I C M L at the end of June 2018 is projected to be $346,061,809 with net assets 

per share (NAV) of $1.03. Shareholders‟ equity is projected to increase to $379,417,518 for year ending 30th 

June 2019 with NAV of $1.12 per share. For  the year ending 30th June 2020 shareholders‟ equity is projected 

to be $410,605,684 resulting in a NAV of $1.20 per share. For the year ending 30
th

 June 2021, shareholders‟ 

equity is projected to be $445,681,044 resulting in a NAV of $1.28 per share. 

 

Group statements of financial position as at 30 June 2018 2019 2020 2021 

ASSETS USD USD USD USD 

Cash and cash equivalents 569,509 4,989,285 9,235,923 10,759,832 

Other receivables 100 100 100 100 

Total current assets 569,609 4,989,385 9,236,023 10,759,932 
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Non-current assets     

Equity investments 

Goodwill 

382,791,370 

13,333,095 

434,499,620 

13,333,095 

482,519,297 

13,333,095 

520,242,403 

13,333,095 

TOTAL ASSETS 396,694,074 452,822,100 505,088,415 544,335,430 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     

Current liabilities 

Trade payables 

 

1,075,381   

 

1,069,433 

 

1,178,169 

 

952,911 

Income taxes payable -  509,360 1,030,370 1,043,156 

Other Taxes  13,500 49,500                          59,001 61,950 

Dividends payable -  17,734,743 35,819,005 36,202,586 

Total current liabilities 1,088,881 19,363,036 38,086,545 38,260,603 

Non-current liabilities     

Note payable 878,397 1,196,674 -  - - 

Total liabilities 1,967,278 20,559,710 38,086,545 38,260,603 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     

Share capital 335,780,417 339,573,303 343,456,868 347,718,881 

Other reserves (53,216) (30,814) 345,922 1,002,804 

Retained earnings 10,334,608 39,875,029 66,802,894 96,959,359 

 346,061,809 379,417,518 410,605,684 445,681,044 

Non-controlling interests 48,664,987 52,844,872 56,396,186 60,393,783 

Total shareholders’ equity 394,726,796 432,262,390 467,001,870 506,074,827 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 396,694,074 452,822,100 505,088,415 544,335,430 

     

8.3 Cash Flow Statements for the period from 15
th

 November 2017 to 30
th

 June 2018 and the three years 

ending 30
th

 June 2019, 30
th

 June 2020 and 30
th

 June 2021. 

 

The Company is projecting cash and cash equivalents of $569,509 at the 30
th

 June 2018, $4,989,285 at the 30
th

 

June 2019, $9,235,923 at the 30
th

 June 2020 and $10,759,832 at the 30
th

 June 2021.  

 

The Company is projecting proceeds from the sale of investments of $5,000,000 in the year ending 30
th

 June 

2019, $24,599,823 in the year ending 30
th

 June 2020, and $39,253,564 in the year ending 30
th

 June 2021.  

 

The Company is projecting paying shareholders a dividend of $17,734,743 in the year ending 30
th

 June 2020 and 

$35,819,005 in the year ending 30
th

 June 2021.    

 

 

Group statements of Cash flows for the year 

ending 30 June 

2018 2019 2020 2021 

Cash flow from operating activities USD USD USD USD 

Net income before income tax 11,880,579 51,895,847 67,248,146 71,239,310 

Adjustments to reconcile with net cash used in 

operating activities: 

    

      Movement in fair value of equity 

investments 

(13,146,500) (56,708,250) (72,619,500) (76,976,670) 

Other changes that provided (used) cash in 

operating assets and liabilities: 

 

  

 

      Other receivables (100) -  -  - 

     Trade payables 

     Income tax paid 

     Other taxes 

943,533 

-  

13,500 

3,877,902 

-  

36,000 

4,449,445 

(509,360) 

9,501 

4,854,131 

(1,030,370) 

2,949 

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES 

(308,988) (898,501) (1,421,768) (1,910,650) 
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Cash flow from investing activities     

Proceeeds from sale of Equity Investments 100 5,000,000 24,599,823 39,253,564 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY INVESTING 

ACTIVITIES 

100 5,000,000 24,599,823 39,253,564 

Cash flow from financing activities                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

Dividends Paid 

Proceeds from Credit Provider 

-  

878,397 

-  

318,277 

(17,734,743) 

67,486 

(35,819,005) 

- 

Repayments to Credit Provider -  -  (1,264,160) - 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

878,397 318,277 (18,931,417) (35,819,005) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 569,509 4,419,776 4,246,638 1,523,909 

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the 

period 

-  569,509 4,989,285 9,235,923 

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the 

period 

569,509 4,989,285 9,235,923 10,759,832 
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9. RISK FACTORS 

 

 

A number of risk factors may affect the results of operations, financial conditions and prospects of the Company. The 

risk factors described below are considered by the Board to be material; however these factors should not be regarded 

as a complete and comprehensive statement of all potential risks and uncertainties.  

 

Additional risks not presently known to the Board or that the Board currently considers immaterial may also 

adversely impact the Company‟s business operations. The Company will make use of business insurance to mitigate 

risks where the risks are believed to be severe enough to warrant such insurance and where such insurance is 

available. 

 

9.1 Capital and portfolio risk 

 

The acquisition of assets carries the investment risk of a loss of capital and there can be no assurance that the 

Company will not incur losses. Returns generated from the investments of the Company may not adequately 

compensate shareholders for the business and financial risks taken. An investor should be aware that it may lose all or 

part of its investment in the Company. Many unforeseeable events, including actions by various government agencies 

and domestic and international economic and political developments may cause sharp market fluctuations which 

could adversely affect the Company‟s portfolios and performance both in the short and long terms. 

 

The Company will address and mitigate those risks through extensive macro- and micro-economic analysis, applying 

both a top-down and a bottom-up approach to the investment opportunities available to the Company.  

 

The Company will perform the necessary due diligence required to make informed operational and investment or 

consolidation decisions. Systematic and non-systematic risks will however always be present when investing in 

proprietary positions in assets and therefore the risk cannot ever be completely removed. In exchange for this risk, the 

Company will invest only in opportunities which offer a return in excess of the determined cost of capital for the 

project/asset.  

 

The Company holds a number of investments in various natural resources investment funds, the values of which 

could go down as well as up. As the Company‟s investments are concentrated predominantly in investment funds that 

invest within the natural resources sector, this may result in the value of the investments being more volatile than 

other investments. Added to this, as the investments are only in a limited number of investment funds, there is a 

greater risk that the fair values of the investment funds could fluctuate to a higher degree than if the Company 

invested in a larger number of investment funds. These factors may be considered to increase the risk associated with 

the Company‟s investments in comparison to the level of risk that might be expected, had the Company invested in a 

more diverse portfolio of investments. The value of these investments in the medium to long term could therefore be 

significantly higher or lower than their current fair values. The movements in valuation could have a material effect 

on the net worth of the Company. The fair value of unquoted equity investments is calculated in accordance with the 

principals established by the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines (the “IPEVCV 

Guidelines”) endorsed by the British and European Venture Capital Associations and are consistent with accounting 

principles in the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as developed and published by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European Union (EU), IFRIC interpretations. 

 

9.2 Currency risk 

 

As the Company has a global growth strategy, certain investments that the Company may execute will be located in 

foreign jurisdictions and will be denominated in currencies other than USD. For those investors whose base or home 

currency is not the same as the relevant foreign currency, there is a risk of currency losses if the foreign currency 

depreciates against the investors‟ base currency. 

 

9.3 Stock market risk 

 

The Company may invest in listed securities. Investments made by the Company could decrease in value as a result 

of a decline in global stock markets. 

 

9.4 Liquidity risk 
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The Company may invest in securities for which no liquid market exists. The market prices, if any, for such securities 

tend to be volatile and may not be readily ascertainable and the Company may not be able to sell them when it desires 

to do so or to realise what it perceives to be their fair value in the event of a sale.  

 

The sale of restricted and illiquid securities often requires more time and results in higher brokerage charges or dealer 

discounts and other selling expenses than does the sale of securities eligible for trading on national securities 

exchanges or in the over-the-counter markets. The Company may not be able to readily dispose of such illiquid 

investments and, in some cases, may be contractually prohibited from disposing of such investments for a specified 

period of time. In addition, in certain circumstances, governmental or regulatory approvals may be required for the 

Company to dispose of an investment. Restricted securities may sell at a price lower than similar securities that are 

not subject to restrictions on resale. 

 

Depending on the opportunities for growth and geographic expansion, the Company may need to support the efforts 

or costs for development, marketing and research, expansion into new countries and extraction of synergy between 

consolidated business units. The Company‟s investees may even require additional capital investment for their own 

growth, which increases the probability of dividends not being distributed by the acquired or consolidated entities.  

The Company will therefore actively monitor its cash flow position to ensure all working capital requirements are 

met and that the Company has sufficient funds to act on new potential investments. 

 

9.5 Leverage and financing risks 

 

The capital of the Company may be leveraged so as to achieve a higher rate of return. Accordingly, the Company 

may pledge its securities in order to borrow additional funds for investment purposes. While leverage presents 

opportunities for increasing the total return of the Company, it has the effect of potentially increasing losses as well. 

Accordingly, any event which adversely affects the value of an investment by the Company would be magnified to 

the extent that the Company is leveraged. The cumulative effect of the use of leverage by the Company in a market 

that moves adversely to the Company‟s investments could result in a substantial loss which would be greater than if 

the company were not leveraged. 

 

Whilst the gearing of the Company provides significant upside for ordinary shareholders, the management and 

directors are responsible for the Company as a whole and to make sure that the Company is not at risk of ceasing to 

be a going concern and to approach business activities in a responsible and ethical manner. In line with common 

practice, the Company will aim to keep the debt/equity ratios on investments as high as practically possible in order 

to drive equity returns.  

 

The debt/equity ratios on other equity investments will be assessed on a case by case basis. This assessment will be 

driven by analysing the cost of equity versus the cost of debt.  Debt to equity ratios will therefore be monitored 

constantly, particularly with regard to the effects that they have on the profitability of the Company. This includes 

managing the debt levels of the businesses within agreed covenants with funding providers. Excessive risks will not 

be taken in this regard and an internal control process will be implemented to ensure that the business does not carry 

excessive financial risk. 

 

9.6 Global political, economic and financial risks 

 

As the Company will invest and expand its services globally, it will be exposed to adverse political, economic and 

financial events in several jurisdictions. The value of the investments could decline as a result of economic 

developments such as poor or negative economic growth, poor balance of payments data, high interest rates or rising 

inflation. A similar situation would prevail due to political instability in certain jurisdictions. The Company will take 

reasonable steps to mitigate these risks, including risk insurance cover where appropriate.  

 

The Company will place significant value on investments alongside relationships with parties who are trustworthy, 

have an experienced management team and have a market reputation for dealing fairly and being able to manage risks 

appropriately. The Company will not invest into areas with significant geopolitical risk or where the Board believes 

that the risk outweighs the potential returns. Internal controls will be stressed throughout the decision making process. 

Regulatory requirements (SEM Listing Requirements) will require the Company to obtain shareholder authorisation 

for certain corporate actions, which will need to be approved by such shareholders by way of general or special 

resolutions prior to executing the corporate action. 

 

9.7 Regulatory change may affect the Company 

 

Legal or regulatory change may affect the Company and impose potential limits on the Company‟s flexibility in 

implementing its strategy. Any change to financial services regulations, planning, trust, tax (including stamp duty, 
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VAT, transfer duty) or other laws and regulations relating to the areas in which the Company operates may have an 

adverse effect on the Company. 

 

The levels of, and relief from, taxation may change, adversely affecting the financial prospects of the Company 

and/or the returns to shareholders. The Company is subject to the tax authorities within the jurisdictions it operates 

and taxes and tax dispensations accorded to the Company may change over time. 

 

The nature and amount of tax payable is dependent on the availability of relief under tax treaties in a number of 

jurisdictions and is subject to changes to the tax laws or practice in any other tax jurisdiction affecting the Company. 

 

Any change in the terms of tax treaties or any changes in tax law, interpretation or practice could increase the amount 

of tax payable by the Company and could affect the value of the investments held by the company or affect its ability 

to achieve its investment objective and alter the post-tax returns to shareholders. The level of dividends the Company 

is able to pay would also be likely to be adversely affected. 

 

Investment or consolidation decisions take into account gross and net of tax returns. The tax consequences are always 

taken into account in making an investment; however this is not the sole or main purpose of entering into any 

transaction. Tax regulations will have to be complied with and impacts thereof will have to be monitored on a 

consistent basis. Tax authorities will normally release public review proposals to tax law changes open to public for 

review, when such changes will have significant impacts on the market, investments or the economy. The Company‟s 

internal controls will include the monitoring of proposed amendments and the effects that it would have on the 

Company as a group of consolidated businesses, so that pro-active, as opposed to reactive, decisions can be made in 

this regard. 

 

9.8 Forward looking statements 

 

This document contains certain statements that are forward looking. By their very nature, forward looking statements 

involve certain risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may occur in the 

future, some of which are, or may be, beyond the Company's control. No assurance can be given that the future 

results or development covered by such forward looking statements will be achieved. There are a number of factors 

that could cause actual results or developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward 

looking statements. 

 

9.9 Failure to identify suitable acquisitions and/or integrate them 

 

Future growth may be limited by the Company‟s ability to identify, evaluate and execute the 

acquisition/consolidation of suitable service businesses, which would otherwise enable significant synergy and value 

added to the Company‟s existing portfolio of clients and services offerings, at the appropriate terms. The Company 

could face competition from other potential purchasers. There is no guarantee that suitable investments can or will be 

acquired nor that investments or consolidation will be successful. Moreover, once acquired, the success of an 

effective and value-creating integration depends on various factors, including the ability to integrate different 

business cultures and the ability to leverage off existing human resource capital within the Company. Any delay or 

inability to successfully integrate these businesses could adversely affect the Company‟s operations and future 

financial performance. 

 

9.10 Risks facing the metals and mining industry 

According to a report by EY, the top business risks faced by the mining and metals industry in 2016-2017 include: 

 Limited pricing and demand visibility due to continuing market volatility; 

 Limited access to capital; 

 During prior booms, the industry focused on a „volume at any cost‟ approach increasing the sizes of their 

mines. After the booms, scaling down of these structures resulted in a more complex operational model and 

decreased connectivity within operations resulting in diminished productivity; 

 The companies operating in the mining and metals industry need to embed sustainability into long-term 

planning and operate in tandem with local communities to retain social license to operate; 

 Access to energy remains a challenge. 
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Annexure A 

 

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS FOR ICML  

 

ICML is an investment company focused on increasing shareholder value by acquiring stakes in companies that 

supply the commodities needed for infrastructure development. ICML has currently contracted to acquire 87.65% of 

ICL and intends to make further acquisitions once public on the SEM. Based upon the contracted acquisition of ICL 

only, the Company is projecting net assets of $346 million ($1.03 per share) on the Company‟s balance sheet as at 

30th June 2018. These are projected to grow to $379 million ($1.12 per share) by 30th June 2019, $410 million ($1.20 

per share) by 30
th
 June 2020 and to grow to $446 million ($1.28 per share) by 30

th
 June 2021.  

 

For valuation metrics, ICML can be compared with mid-tier public private equity companies such as: 

Gimv NV, Harbourvest Global Private Equity Ltd., Pantheon International PLC, Deutsche Beteiligungs AG, HG 

Capital Trust PLC, NB Private Equity Partners Ltd., Standard Life Private Equity Trust, Altamir SCA, Eurocastle 

Investment Ltd., and Oakley Capital Investments Ltd. 

 

These companies are comparable to ICML as all have direct investments into diversified private equity companies 

and/or investments into diversified investment holding companies. 

 

These ten comparable companies currently trade at an average of 1.00 time net asset value and an average PE of 6.86. 

The wider universe of the 30 leading public private equity companies trade at an average of 3.39 times net asset value 

and an average PE of 13.38 (all as at 19th January 2018). The 30 leading public private equity companies include 

public private equity companies that also have separate asset management businesses as well as managing their own 

proprietary capital. This is the reason why the average valuation multiples are higher than the average valuation 

multiples for the 10 mid-tier public private equity companies that are comparable to ICML.      
 

10 x Mid-Tier Public Private Equity Companies (as at 19
th

 January 2018) 
 

 The average net assets to book ratio for the six publicly listed private equity companies used  for comparison 

analysis is currently 1.00. 

 The average PE ratio for the t e n  publicly listed private equity companies (where specified) is currently 6.86. 

 The average net asset value of the ten mid-tier private equity companies is US$975 million (average market value 

US$923 million). 

 

Company Name Symbol Exchange 
Share 

Price 
52 W H/L SO (mil) 

Av. Daily  

Vol. (mil) 

Mkt.Cap. 

(US$m) 

 

Gimv NV 

 

GIMB BRU EUR 52.10 56.95/49.92 25.43 0.02 1,548.10 

Harbourvest Global PE Ltd. 

 
HVPE LSE 1,266.00p 1,310.00/1,180.00 79.86 0.07 1,345.18 

Pantheon International PLC 

 
PIN LSE 1,865.00p 1,929.00/1,678.00 54.11 0.08 1,331.99 

Deutsche Beteiligungs AG 

 
DBAX.N GER EUR 50.60 52.10/31.14 15.04 0.05 894.53 

HgCapital Trust PLC 

 
HGT LSE 1,730.00p 1,813.34/1,476.45 37.32 0.07 860.25 

NB Private Equity Partners Limited 

 
NBPE AEX USD 14.74 14.75/12.15 54.21 0.01 799.06 

Standard Life Private Equity Trust 

 
SEP LSE 350.00p 356.00/287.88 153.75 0.15 711.62 

Altamir SCA 

 
LTA PAR EUR 15.70 17.50/12.66 36.51 0.02 672.30 

Eurocastle Investment Ltd. 

 
ECT AEX EUR 8.08 10.00/7.80 66.12 0.02 620.40 

Oakley Capital Investments Limited OCI LSE 165.00p 174.00/149.00 204.80 0.20 448.39 
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Company Name 
Local 

Currency 

Revenues 

(local m) 

Revenues 

(US$m) 

Net Income 

(US$m) 
PE 

Total Debt 

(US$ m) 

Net Assets 

(US$ m) 
M. Book 

AUM 

(US$m) 

 

Gimv NV 

 

EUR 

 

263.00 308 155 12.04 0 

 

1,446 1.07 2,111 

Harbourvest Global  

P.E. Ltd. 

 

USD 0.98 1 138 NS 0 1,475 0.91 58,000 

Pantheon 

International PLC 

 

GBP 221.00 291 264 NS 0 1,830 0.73 36,000 

Deutsche Beteiligungs 

AG 

 

EUR 121.00 142 106 8.44 0 522 1.71 1,194 

HgCapital Trust PLC 

 
GBP 104.00 137 133 NS 2 812 1.06 6,726 

NB Private Equity 

Partners Limited 

 

USD 128.00 128 101 6.22 77 777 1.03 34,000 

Standard Life Private 

Equity Trust 

 

GBP 89.00 117 107 NS 0 790 0.90 NS 

Altamir SCA 

 
EUR 180.00 211 151 5.19 150 927 0.73 762 

Eurocastle Investment 

Ltd. 

 

EUR 153.00 179 205 2.42 70 596 1.04 488 

Oakley Capital 

Investments Limited 
GBP 71.00 94 88 NS 0 578 0.78 880 

          

 

NS = P/E figure not specified. 

 

30 x Leading Public Private Equity Companies (in market cap. order as at 19
th

 January 2018) 

 

This table is not a direct comparison as it includes much larger companies. It provides a prespective of the overall public 

private equity market. 

 

 The average PE for the 30 x leading public private equity companies is 13.38. 

 The average price to book for the 30 x leading public private equity companies is 3.39. 

 

Company Name  Symbol Exchange Price 
Mkt. Cap. 

(US$m) 
PE 

Net Assets 

(US$m) 
M Book 

Blackstone Group LP BX NYQ USD 34.91 41,920.00 15.06 6,461 6.49 

Fosun International Limited 656 HKG HKD 18.62 20,428.44 11.15 13,412 1.52 

Partners Group Holding AG PGHN VTX CHF 727.50 19,885.39 29.10 1,589 12.51 

KKR & Co. LP KKR NYQ USD 22.55 18,460.00 11.35 5,940 3.11 

3i Group PLC III LSE 939.40p 12,093.40 NS 7,697 1.57 

Leucadia National Corp. LUK NYQ USD 27.63 9,840.00 17.85 10,128 0.97 

Carlyle Group LP CG NSQ USD 24.40 8,290.00 13.40 308 26.92 

Wendel SE MF PAR EUR 148.30 8,021.95 NS 2,648 3.03 

Onex Corp. ONEX TOR CAD 90.92 7,448.36 NS -490 N/A 

Oaktree Capital Group LLC OAK NYQ USD 45.70 7,140.00 10.50 806 8.86 

Eurazeo SA RF PAR EUR 84.30 7,130.62 10.22 5,262 1.36 

Apollo Global Management LLC APO NYQ USD 35.07 6,790.00 11.55 835 8.13 

Ares Management LP ARES NYQ USD 23.00 4,890.00 40.85 592 8.26 

Gimv NV GIMB BRU EUR 52.10 1,548.10 12.04 1,446 1.07 



 

Infrastructure Commodities (Mauritius) Ltd Business Plan/2018 Page 52 
 

Harbourvest Global Private Equity Ltd. HVPE LSE 1,266.00p 1,345.18 NS 1,475 0.91 

Pantheon International PLC PIN LSE 1,865.00p 1,331.99 NS 1,830 0.73 

HBM Healthcare Investments AG HBMN SWX CHF 143.00 1,041.71 8.70 1,130 0.92 

Deutsche Beteiligungs AG DBAX.N GER EUR 50.60 894.53 8.44 522 1.71 

HgCapital Trust PLC HGT LSE 1,730.00p 860.25 NS 812 1.06 

Princess Private Equity Holding Ltd. PEY LSE EUR 9.90 826.82 NS 824 1.00 

NB Private Equity Partners Limited NBPE AEX USD 14.74 799.06 6.22 777 1.03 

ICG (ex. Graphite) Enterprise Trust PLC ICGT LSE 824.00p 751.72 NS 808 0.93 

Standard Life Private Equity Trust SEP LSE 350.00p 711.62 NS 790 0.90 

Altamir SCA LTA PAR EUR 15.70 672.30 5.19 927 0.73 

Eurocastle Investment Ltd. ECT AEX EUR 8.08 620.40 2.42 596 1.04 

JZ Capital Partners Limited JZCP LSE 474.00p 526.73 NS 849 0.62 

Electra Private Equity PLC ELTA LSE 937.00p 469.49 NS 1,000 0.47 

Oakley Capital Investments Limited OCI LSE 165.00p 448.39 NS 578 0.78 

F&C Private Equity Trust FPEO LSE 331.50p 322.97 NS 343 0.94 

JPEL Private Equity Limited JPEL LSE USD 1.48 321.00 NS 428 0.75 

TOTAL/AVERAGE    185,830.43 13.38 70,324 3.39 

 

 

Notes: All financial info. as at 19th January 2018. NS = P/E figure not specified. 

  



 

Infrastructure Commodities (Mauritius) Ltd Business Plan/2018 Page 53 
 

Annexure B 
 

 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ICL 

 

 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

30 June 17  

US$ 

30 June 16  

US$ 

30 June 15  

US$ 

Revenue 

    Fair value movement in equity investments         8,911,357          (883,829)                   -    

 Profit on sale of fixed assets                    -              240,178                    -    

 

       8,911,357          (643,651)                   -    

 General and administrative expenses         (375,000)        (391,781)                   -    

 Profit (loss) before taxation         8,536,357  

      

(1,035,432)                   -    

 Taxation expense                    -                      -    

 

 Total comprehensive profit (loss)         8,536,357  

      

(1,035,432)                   -    

 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 June 17  

US$ 

30 June 16  

US$ 

30 June 15  

US$ 

ASSETS 

   Non-current assets 

   Equity investments 349,331,151 216,419,789 224,967,440 

 

349,331,151 216,419,789 224,967,440 

Current assets 

   Trade and other receivables 7,167,219 7,527,219                       -    

 

7,167,219 7,7,527,219                        -    

Total assets 356,498,370 223,947,008 224,967,440 

    LIABILITIES 

   Current liabilities 

   Trade and other payables 30,000 15,000                        -    

Total Liabilities 30,000 15,000                       -    

Net Assets 356,468,370 223,932,008 224,967,440 

    SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

   Share capital 38,201 500 500 

Share premium 123,962,304                        -                           -    

Capital contribution reserve 224,966,940 224,966,940 224,966,940 

Retained earnings 7,500,925     (1,035,432)       -    

Total shareholders' equity 356,468,370 223,932,008 224,967,440 
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INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISOR REPORT  
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